

GRAS Notification

of

Purified Steviol Glycosides Primarily Composed of Rebaudioside A and Stevioside

Food Usage Conditions for General Recognition of Safety

on behalf of

Shandong Shengxiangyuan Biotechnology Co., Ltd. Shandong, People's Republic of China

TABLE OF CONTENTS

FOREWO	ORD	
PART 1.	SIGNED STATEMENTS AND CERTIFICATION	4
	A. Basis of Exclusion from the Requirement for Premarket Approval Pursuant to Proposed 21 CFR 170.36(c)(1)	
	B. Name and Address of Responsible Party	5
	C. Common Name and Identity of Notified Substance	5
	D. Conditions of Intended Use in Food	6
	E. Basis for GRAS Conclusion	6
	F. Availability of Information	6
PART 2.	IDENTITY, METHOD OF MANUFACTURE, SPECIFICATIONS, AND PHYSICAL OR TECHNICAL EFFECT	6
	A. Chemical Identity of Ingredient	6
	1. Chemical Structure of Purified Steviol Glycosides	7
	B. Manufacturing Processes	9
	C. Product Specifications	11
	1. JECFA Specifications for Steviol Glycosides	11
	Specifications for Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% Purified Steviol Glycosides	
	Preparations and Supporting Methods	
	D. Physical or Technical Effect	
PART 3.	DIETARY EXPOSURE	
	A. Estimate of Dietary Exposure to the Substance	
	B. Estimated Dietary Exposure to Any Other Substance That is Expected to be Formed In or On Food	
	C. Dietary Exposure to Contaminants or Byproducts	
PART 4.	SELF-LIMITING LEVELS OF USE	20
PART 5.	EXPERIENCE BASED ON COMMON USE IN FOOD BEFORE 1958	
9 C. 1997 (1997)	A. Other Information on Dietary Exposure	
	1. History of Traditional Medicinal and Human Food Use	
	B. Summary of Regulatory History of SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95%	
	1. U.S. Regulatory History	21
	2. Canadian Regulatory History	
	3. European Regulatory History	
	4. Asian Regulatory History	
	5. Other Regulatory History	
PART 6.	NARRATIVE	
	A. GRAS Criteria	
	B. Expert Panel Findings on Safety of SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95%	
	C. Common Knowledge Elements for GRAS Conclusions	
	1. Public Availability of Scientific Information	
	2. Scientific Consensus	
	D. Conclusion	
PART 7.	LIST OF SUPPORTING DATA AND INFORMATION IN THE GRAS NOTICE	
	A. List of Acronyms	
	B. References	
	C. Appendices	
APPEND	IX 1 SPECIFICATIONS AND CERTIFICATES OF ANALYSIS FOR PRODUCTION PROCESSING AIDS	51
APPEND	IX 2 CERTIFICATES OF ANALYSIS FOR MULTIPLE BATCHES OF SXY STEVIA® TOTAL STEVIOL GLYCO	SIDES
95	% PURIFIED STEVIOL GLYCOSIDES	
APPEND	IX 3 ANALYTICAL CHROMATOGRAMS FOR MULTIPLE PRODUCTION BATCHES OF SXY STEVIA® TOTA	AL
ST	EVIOL GLYCOSIDES 95%	60
APPEND	IX 4 PESTICIDE TESTING REPORT FOR SXY STEVIA® TOTAL STEVIOL GLYCOSIDES 95%	101

9/11/17

APPENDIX 5	ESTIMATED DAILY INTAKE LEVELS OF SXY STEVIA® TOTAL STEVIOL GLYCOSIDES 95%	
APPENDIX 6	SUMMARY OF PUBLISHED SAFETY REVIEWS	111
APPENDIX 7 & REBAI	STUDIES ON STEVIOL GLYCOSIDES PREPARATIONS THAT ARE PRIMARILY MIXTURES OF STE UDIOSIDE A	VIOSIDE 117
APPENDIX 8 REBAUD	SUMMARY OF STUDIES ON STEVIOL GLYCOSIDES PREPARATIONS THAT ARE PRIMARILY DIOSIDE A	
APPENDIX 9	STUDIES ON PRINCIPAL METABOLITE: STEVIOL	
1.	Acute Toxicity Studies	
2.	. Developmental Toxicity Studies	
3.	Mutagenicity & Genotoxicity Studies	
4.	. Endocrine Disruption Studies	

FIGURES

Figure 1. Chemical Structures of Various Steviol Glycosides ^{a,b}	1
Figure 2. Chemical Structure of Rebaudioside A and Stevioside	3
Figure 3. Flow Chart of Manufacturing Process for Shandong's Steviol Glycosides Extract Raw Material)
Figure 4. Flow Chart of Manufacturing Process for Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95%11	l

TABLES

Table 1. Chemical Identity of Rebaudioside A and Stevioside	8
Table 2. Specifications for Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% Preparations	
Table 3. SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% Storage Stability Data	
Table 4. Daily Intake of Sweeteners (in Sucrose Equivalents) & Estimated Daily Intakes of SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycos	sides 95%
Purified Steviol Glycosides	
Table 5. FDA's GRAS Notice Inventory on Rebaudioside & Steviol Glycosides Preparations ^{a,c}	
Table 6. FEMA GRAS Status for Steviol Glycoside Preparations	25

9/11/17

FOREWORD

At the request of Shandong Shengxiangyuan Biotechnology Co., Ltd (hereinafter "Shandong"), GRAS Associates, LLC ("GA") has undertaken an independent safety evaluation of Shandong's purified steviol glycosides preparation (≥ 95% total steviol glycosides primarily composed of rebaudioside A and stevioside, with lesser amounts of rebaudioside B, rebaudioside C, rebaudioside D, rebaudioside F, dulcoside A, rubusoside, and steviolbioside), referred to herein as SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95%. The purpose of the evaluation is to ascertain whether Shandong's conclusion that the intended food uses of purified steviol glycosides preparations as a non-nutritive sweetener as described in Part 3 are generally recognized as safe, i.e., GRAS, under the intended conditions of use. In addition, Shandong has asked that GRAS Associates act as agent for the submission of this GRAS notification.

Shandong based its GRAS assessment on a large body of information that addressed the safety/toxicity of purified steviol glycosides, history of use of purified steviol glycosides and similar compounds, and compositional details, specifications, and method of preparation of the subject ingredient.

Safety/toxicity studies performed with animals and human clinical trials were noted to have value. The composite safety/toxicity studies, in concert with dietary exposure information, ultimately provide the specific scientific foundation for the GRAS conclusion.

In addition to the product specifications, chemical properties, manufacturing, and safety-related information, Shandong also provided consumption/exposure information, along with other related documentation. This was augmented with an independent search of the scientific and regulatory literature extending through August 10, 2017. A GRAS assessment based primarily on the composite safety information, i.e., based on scientific procedures, was undertaken by Shandong followed by an Expert Panel review coordinated by GRAS Associates. Those references that were deemed pertinent to this review are listed in Part 7.

PART 1. SIGNED STATEMENTS AND CERTIFICATION

A. Basis of Exclusion from the Requirement for Premarket Approval Pursuant to Proposed 21 CFR 170.36(c)(1)¹

Shandong Shengxiangyuan Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (Shandong) has concluded that its purified steviol glycosides product (≥ 95% total steviol glycosides primarily composed of rebaudioside A and stevioside), referred to as purified steviol glycosides and SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95%, and which meet the specifications described below, is Generally Recognized As Safe (GRAS) in accordance with Section 201(s) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act. This determination was made in concert with an appropriately convened panel of experts who are

¹ See 81 FR 54960, 17 August 2016. Accessible at: https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2016-08-17/pdf/2016-19164.pdf (Accessed 4/15/17).

9/11/17

qualified by scientific training and experience. The GRAS determination is based on scientific procedures as described in the following sections. The evaluation accurately reflects the intended conditions of food use for the designated purified steviol glycosides preparations (\geq 95% total steviol glycosides primarily composed of rebaudioside A and stevioside).

Signed:

(b) (6)

Agent for Shandong

Date: 9/11/17

Steven Overgaard President GRAS Associates, LLC 27499 Riverview Center Blvd. Suite 212 Bonita Springs, FL 34134

B. Name and Address of Responsible Party

Shandong Shengxiangyuan Biotechnology Co., Ltd. Xizou Industrial Park Qufu, Shandong 273100 People's Republic of China

As the Responsible Party, Shandong Shengxiangyuan Biotechnology Co., Ltd. ("Shandong") accepts responsibility for the GRAS conclusion that has been made for its SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95%, as described in the subject safety evaluation; consequently, the purified steviol glycosides preparations having acceptable steviol glycosides compositions that are primarily rebaudioside A and stevioside, with no less than 95% of the total of rebaudioside A, stevioside, rebaudioside B, rebaudioside C, rebaudioside D, rebaudioside F, dulcoside A, rubusoside, and steviolbioside, which meet the conditions described herein, are not subject to premarket approval requirements for food ingredients.

C. Common Name and Identity of Notified Substance

The common name of the ingredient to be used on food labels is stevia extract or steviol glycosides.

9/11/17

D. Conditions of Intended Use in Food

Shandong's Purified Steviol Glycosides SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% preparation is intended for use as a general-purpose sweetener in foods, excluding meat and poultry products and infant formulas, at levels determined by current good manufacturing practices.

E. Basis for GRAS Conclusion

Pursuant to 21 CFR 170.30(a) and (b), Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% has been concluded to be GRAS on the basis of scientific procedures as discussed in the detailed description provided below.

Purified steviol glycosides are not subject to premarket approval requirements of the FD&C Act based on Shandong's conclusion that the substance is GRAS under the conditions of its intended food use.

Shandong and GRAS Associates certify, to the best of our knowledge, that this GRAS notice is a complete, representative, and balanced assessment that includes all relevant information, both favorable and unfavorable, available and pertinent to the evaluation of safety and GRAS status of purified steviol glycosides.

F. Availability of Information

The data and information that serve as the basis for this GRAS Notice will be maintained at the offices of GRAS Associates, Bonita Springs, FL, and will be made available during customary business hours.

Shandong and GRAS Associates, LLC certify that no data or information contained herein are exempt from disclosure under the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA). No non-public, safety-related data were used by the Expert Panel to reach a GRAS conclusion.

PART 2. IDENTITY, METHOD OF MANUFACTURE, SPECIFICATIONS, AND PHYSICAL OR TECHNICAL EFFECT

A. Chemical Identity of Ingredient

Purified steviol glycosides (\geq 95% total steviol glycosides) is the common or usual name of the non-nutritive sweetener derived from *Stevia rebaudiana* Bertoni that is the subject of this GRAS evaluation. The compositional features of the subject SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95%, composed primarily of rebaudioside A and stevioside, with lesser amounts of rebaudioside B, rebaudioside C, rebaudioside D, rebaudioside F, dulcoside A, rubusoside, and steviolbioside, are described in more detail in Part 2.

In the scientific literature, steviol glycosides have been referred to as stevia, stevioside, steviol glycosides, and stevia glycoside. JECFA adopted the term "steviol glycosides" for the family of GRAS ASSOCIATES, LLC Page 6 of 143

9/11/17

steviol derivatives with sweetness properties that are derived from the stevia plant. Presently, the term "stevia" is used, more narrowly, to describe the plant or crude extracts of the plant, while rebaudioside A (Reb A) –like stevioside – is the common name for another one of the specific glycosides that is extracted from stevia leaves. Representative chemical structures of some of the various steviol glycosides that have been identified to date are presented in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Chemical Structures of Various Steviol Glycosides^{a,b}

^a From FAO, 2007b.

^b The indicated CAS No. for Rubusoside as reported in the cited reference is incorrect and should be 64849-39-4.

1. Chemical Structure of Purified Steviol Glycosides

The chemical identities and key chemical identifiers for the two major components of Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% purified steviol glycosides preparation are presented in Table 1, and the chemical structures of the two predominant steviol glycosides present are shown in Figure 2.

	REBAUDIOSIDE A
Common Name	Rebaudioside A
Chemical name	13-[(2-O-β-D-glucopyranosyl-3-O-β-D- glucopyranosyl-β-D- glucopyranosyl) oxy] kaur-16-en-18-oic acid, β-D- glucopyranosyl ester
Chemical formula	C ₄₄ H ₇₀ O ₂₃
Formula weight	967.03 daltons
CAS Number	58543-16-1
	STEVIOSIDE
Common name	Stevioside
Chemical name	13-[2-O-β-D-glucopyranosyl-β-D- glucopyranosyl)oxy] kaur-16-en-18-oic acid, β-D-glucopyranosyl ester
Chemical formula	C ₃₈ H ₆₀ O ₁₈
Formula weight	804.88 daltons
CAS Number	57817-89-7

Table	1. Chemical	Identity (of Rebaudioside	A and Stevioside
1 4010	n ononioui	I GOILERY .	or resourcestate.	A unu oleviosiu

Figure 2. Chemical Structure of Rebaudioside A and Stevioside



9/11/17

There are no known toxicants that have been identified in stevia.

A recent publication by Kumari et al. (2016) addressed the content and distribution of Total Phenolic Content (TPC), Total Flavonoid Content (TFC), and Total Antioxidant Capacity (TAC) of different portions of *Stevia rebaudiana*. TPC, TFC, and TAC were observed in all portions of the stevia plant, with the highest levels noted in the leaves; the relative TPC, TFC, and TAC amounts reflect the following order: leaf > flower > stem > branch > root. The higher levels in the leaves were attributed to an increased content of phenolics, flavonoids, and pigments in the stevia leaf. The authors also reported that TPC, TFC, and TAC amounts decreased with leaf maturity.

B. Manufacturing Processes

Shandong manufactures its purified steviol glycosides (\geq 95% total steviol glycosides) SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% preparation from extracts derived from *Stevia rebaudiana* leaves using a fairly typical contemporary process that is used in the industry for the production of stevia-derived sweeteners manufactured under current Good Manufacturing Practices regulations (cGMP). In short, dry stevia leaves are steeped in water and then removed via filtration. The steviol glycosides are absorbed on resin and eluted with 60-70% ethanol prior to a number of purification steps. The resulting crude stevia extract serves as the raw material for Shandong's manufacturing process. A flow chart for the manufacturing process for the raw material stevia extract is provided in Figure 3.

An aqueous solution of food grade ethanol (88-90%) is added to a stevia extract consisting of \geq 90% total steviol glycosides (\geq 50% rebaudioside A) at a ratio between 3:1 and 5:1 ethanol to stevia extract. The mixture is heated for 3-4 hours, with the temperature maintained between 70-80°C, with stirring every 5-10 minutes. The mixture is then allowed to rest for 3-4 hours for crystallization to occur. The crystallized steviol glycosides are washed with ethanol, and then separated by solid-liquid separation using a centrifuge. The finished purified steviol glycosides product is then dried, crushed into a powder, and packaged.

The manufacturing process is summarized in a flow chart provided in Figure 4.

The ethanol used in the purification process complies with Food Chemicals Codex (FCC) 10th Edition specifications. Specifications for ethanol and a certificate of analysis for a representative lot of the steviol glycoside extract raw material (\geq 90% total steviol glycosides) are provided in Appendix 1.

Figure 3. Flow Chart of Manufacturing Process for Shandong's Steviol Glycosides Extract Raw Material



Figure 4. Flow Chart of Manufacturing Process for Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95%



C. Product Specifications

1. JECFA Specifications for Steviol Glycosides

The composition of extracts of *Stevia rebaudiana* Bertoni depends upon the composition of the harvested leaves, which are, in turn, influenced by soil, climate, and the manufacturing process itself (FAO, 2007b).

In 2007, JECFA recommended that the method of assay should include a minimum requirement of 95% of the total of 7 specific steviol glycosides on a dried weight basis, and JECFA finalized food grade specifications at the 68th JECFA meeting with publication in the FAO JECFA Monograph 4

9/11/17

(FAO, 2007a). Stevioside and rebaudioside A (Reb A) are the major component glycosides of interest because of their sweetening property. The five other associated glycosides found in preparations of steviol glycosides accepted by the JECFA specifications with the 95% requirement are rebaudioside C (Reb C), dulcoside A, rubusoside, steviolbioside, and rebaudioside B (Reb B). These, however, are typically found at much lower levels than stevioside or rebaudioside A. JECFA updated the specifications for steviol glycosides in 2008 (FAO, 2008), and then again in 2010, when the specifications were expanded to include the original seven specific steviol glycosides plus rebaudioside D (Reb D) and rebaudioside F (Reb F) (FAO, 2010).Recently, rebaudioside M (Reb M) has garnered interest as an additional naturally-occurring sweet steviol glycoside.

JECFA describes steviol glycosides as a white to yellow powder, odorless to having a slight characteristic odor, and exhibiting a sweetness that is 200-300 times greater than sucrose. The ingredient must consist of a minimum of 95% of nine specific steviol glycosides. The steviol glycosides are freely soluble in water and ethanol, and the 1 in 100 solutions exhibit pH values between 4.5 and 7.0. The product should not have more than 1% ash, with no more than a 6% loss on drying at 105°C for 2 hours. Any residual methanol levels should not exceed 200 ppm, and ethanol residues should not exceed 5,000 ppm. Arsenic levels should not exceed 1 ppm as determined by the atomic absorption hydride technique. Lead levels should not exceed 1 ppm.

2. Specifications for Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% Purified Steviol Glycosides Preparations and Supporting Methods

Shandong has adopted product specifications for its SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% purified steviol glycosides preparation that meet or exceed JECFA recommendations, while also complying with Food Chemicals Codex (FCC, 2010) specifications for rebaudioside A as a consumable human food substance. The compositions of five lots of Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% purified steviol glycosides are compared to the JECFA and FCC specifications in Table 2, and representative certificates of analysis for the five batches are presented in Appendix 2.

Table 2. Specifications for Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% Preparations

	JECFA ^a	FCCb	Shandong Minimum RESULTS OF SXY ST			Y STEVIA® TOTAL STEVIOL		
PARAMETERS	STEVIOL GLYCOSIDES	SPECIFICATIONS REBAUDIOSIDE A Glycosides 95%		Batch Number 20160913	Batch Number 20160916	Batch Number 20160914	Batch Number 20160917	Batch Number 20160918
Appearance Form	Powder	Crystal, granule or powder	Fine Powder	Fine Powder	Fine Powder	Fine Powder	Fine Powder	Fine Powder
Appearance Color	White to light Yellow	White to off-white	White	White	White	White	White	White
Sweetness Intensity	-	-	280-320	300	300	300	300	300
Solubility	Freely soluble in water	Freely soluble in water: ethanol (50:50)	NS	Pass	Pass	Pass	Pass	Pass
Purity (HPLC Area) %	NS	≥ 95	≥ 95% Total Steviol Glycosides 50-70% Reb A 1.0-3.0% Reb B 2.0-5.0% Reb C 0.3-1.5% Reb D 0.5-1.5% Reb F 20.0-30.0% Stevioside 0.3-1.0% Dulcoside A 2.0-4.0% Rubusoside 0-1.0% Steviolbioside	95.52% Total Steviol Glycosides 61.18% Reb A 1.92% Reb B 2.44% Reb C 0.47% Reb D 0.66% Reb F 25.33% Stevioside 0.36% Dulcoside A 2.42% Rubusoside 0.74% Steviolbioside	95.32% Total Steviol Glycosides 61.16% Reb A 1.66% Reb B 1.87% Reb C 0.34% Reb D 0.59% Reb F 25.40% Stevioside 0.33% Dulcoside A 3.07% Rubusoside 0.91% Steviolbioside	95.57% Total Steviol Glycosides 63.60% Reb A 1.76% Reb B 1.89% Reb C 0.70% Reb D 0.57% Reb F 23.15% Stevioside 0.40% Dulcoside A 2.77% Rubusoside 0.73% Steviolbioside	95.70% Total Steviol Glycosides 62.58% Reb A 1.74% Reb B 1.82% Reb C 0.69% Reb D 0.56% Reb F 24.10% Stevioside 0.37% Dulcoside A 2.89% Rubusoside 0.94% Steviolbioside	95.88% Total Steviol Glycosides 62.63% Reb A 1.82% Reb B 2.01% Reb C 0.69% Reb D 0.62% Reb F 23.58% Stevioside 0.44% Dulcoside A 3.20% Rubusoside 0.89% Steviolbioside
Residual Ethanol	NMT 5,000 mg/kg	NMT 0.5%	≤ 5,000 mg/kg	583 mg/kg	397 mg/kg	502 mg/kg	503 mg/kg	501 mg/kg
Residual Methanol	NMT 200 mg/kg	NMT 0.02%	\leq 200 mg/kg	76 mg/kg	89 mg/kg	94 mg/kg	99 mg/kg	97 mg/kg
Loss on Drying (%)	NMT 6.0%	NMT 6.0%	≤ 4.00 %	3.10%	3.26%	3.07%	3.32%	3.41%
pH, 1% Solution	4.5-7.0	4.5-7.0	4.5-7.0	5.20	5.20	5.20	5.20	5.20
Total Ash (%)	NMT 1%	NMT 1%	≤ 0.1%	0.09%	0.08%	0.09%	0.09%	0.09%
Arsenic	NMT 1 mg/kg	NMT 1 mg/kg	\leq 0.1 mg/kg	Below detection limit				
Lead	NMT 1 mg/kg	NMT 1 mg/kg	≤ 0.1 mg/kg	0.05 mg/kg	0.05 mg/kg	0.05 mg/kg	0.05 mg/kg	0.05 mg/kg
Mercury	NS	NS	\leq 0.1 mg/kg	0.05 mg/kg	0.05 mg/kg	0.05 mg/kg	0.05 mg/kg	0.05 mg/kg
Cadmium	NS	NS	$\leq 0.1 \text{mg/kg}$	Below detection limit				

9/11/17

Total Plate Count (cfu/g, max)	NA	NA	≤ 1,000	<1,000	<1,000	<1,000	<1,000	<1,000
Yeast & Mold (cfu/g, max)	NA	NA	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative
Salmonella spp.	NA	NA	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative
Staphylococcus aureus	NA	NA	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative
E. coli (mpn/g)	NA	NA	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative

^a Prepared at 73rd JECFA, 2010.

Prepared at 75 a 2017, 2017.
 Rebaudioside A monograph. Food Chemicals Codex (7th Ed.). (FCC, 2010).
 Shandong determined the solubility of its SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% preparation following the method described in the 2015 Chinese Pharmacopoeia.
 NS = not specified; NA = not applicable; NMT = not more than;

Shandong analyzes its SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% purified steviol glycosides preparation following the JECFA monograph for steviol glycosides (FAO, 2010). In addition to the presentation of key specifications found in Table 2 for comparison with generally accepted purity standards, certificates of analysis for five representative lots of SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95%, as well as solubility results, are provided in Appendix 2. The chromatograms for representative Shandong SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% purified steviol glycosides are provided in Appendix 3. A test report for analysis of pesticide residues in a representative lot of purified steviol glycosides is located in Appendix 4. The collection of these reports demonstrates that the substance is well characterized and meets the established purity criteria.

D. Physical or Technical Effect

Shandong determined the relative sweetness of its SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% purified steviol glycosides preparation by organoleptic comparison to a 2% sucrose solution. The relative sweetness is reported for each lot of material on the Certificate of Analysis.

E. Stability

1. Stability Data on Steviol Glycosides

Steviol glycosides have been reported to be stable over the pH range 3-9 and can be heated at 100°C for 1 hour, but, at pH levels greater than 9, it rapidly decomposes (Kinghorn, 2002). At pH 10, steviolbioside would be the major decomposition product produced from stevioside by alkaline hydrolysis (Wood et al., 1955). Chang and Cook (1983) investigated the stability of pure stevioside and Reb A in carbonated phosphoric and citric acidified beverages. Some degradation of each sweetening component after 2 months of storage at 37°C was noted. However, no significant change at room temperature or below, following 5 months of storage of stevioside and 3 months of storage of Reb A, was observed. Exposure to one week of sunlight did not affect stevioside, but approximately 20% loss of rebaudioside A was detected. Heating at 60°C for 6 days resulted in 0-6% loss of rebaudioside A.

Merisant (2008) conducted stability testing on rebaudioside A (1) as a powder, (2) as a pure sweetener in solution, and (3) on both cola-type and citrus carbonated beverages. In these investigations, no degradation was detected when the powder was stored at 105°C for 96 hours. It was concluded that the powder was stable when stored for 26 weeks at 40±2°C with relative humidity of 75±5%. Both published and unpublished testing results from Merisant revealed that rebaudioside A in carbonated citric acid beverages and phosphoric acid beverages did not significantly degrade during prolonged storage at refrigeration, normal ambient, or elevated ambient temperatures. Minimal loss of rebaudioside A was detected after storage at 60°C with considerable degradation noted after 13 hours at 100°C for carbonated beverage solutions and pure sweetener solutions (Merisant, 2008).

Cargill (2008) also conducted extensive stability testing on rebaudioside A as a powder under various storage conditions and under a range of pH and temperatures. Additionally, Cargill also investigated rebaudioside A stability in several representative food matrices at room temperature and elevated temperatures. Stability profiles were created for table top sweetener applications, mock beverages including cola, root beer and lemon-lime, thermally processed beverages, yogurt, and white cake. The results of stability testing revealed some degradation products that had not been detected in bulk rebaudioside A. These degradation products were structurally related to the

9/11/17

steviol glycosides that are extracted from the leaves of *Stevia rebaudiana* Bertoni. All the degradation products were found to share the same steviol aglycone backbone structure as found in stevioside and rebaudioside A, but they differ by virtue of the glucose moieties present. The results of stability testing revealed that rebaudioside A is stable in various food matrices following several days or weeks of storage. The extent and rate of degradation is dependent on pH, temperature, and time. When placed in beverages, rebaudioside A is more stable in the pH range 4 to 6, and at temperatures from 5°C to 25°C (Cargill, 2008).

Photostability studies of the dry powder and mock beverages were performed to ascertain rebaudioside A behavior under defined conditions of fluorescent and near UV light exposure. Rebaudioside A was found to be photostable under the defined conditions of analysis (Clos et al., 2008).

In addition to the above described stability reports for purified rebaudioside A, in a GRAS notification by Sunwin and WILD Flavors (2010)---regarding purified steviol glycosides with rebaudioside A and stevioside as the principal components---stability was investigated using a 0.04% solution of Reb A 80% in acidic solutions between pH 2.81 and 4.18. In this study, the solutions were stored at 32°C for 4 weeks, and the Reb A content was determined at 1, 2, and 4 weeks. Reb A 80% was found to be very stable at pH 3.17 and above. At pH 2.81, after 4 weeks of storage under accelerated conditions, only a 7% loss of Reb A was noted. Sunwin and WILD Flavors also studied the stability of Reb A 80% in simulated beverages using 0.1% citric acid (pH 3.2). The solutions were pasteurized and stored for 8 weeks at 4°C and 32 °C, and little difference in sweetness perception was found under these conditions.

2. Stability Data for Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% Purified Steviol Glycosides Preparation

Shandong conducted a shelf-stability test study on its SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% purified steviol glycosides preparation. Over the course of 24 months, samples of one lot of each preparation were stored at $25^{\circ}C \pm 2^{\circ}C$ at a relative humidity of $60\% \pm 10\%$ for 0, 6, 12, 18, and 24 months. The stability samples were then tested for steviol glycosides, loss on drying, and microbial parameters. A summary of the shelf-stability results is presented in Table 3.

		Batch Number 2	0140312	
Duration	Assaya	Loss on Drying	Total Plate Count	Yeast & Mold
t=0	95.92%	3.03%	< 1,000 cfu/g	Negative
6 months	95.87%	3.08%	< 1,000 cfu/g	Negative
12 months	95.51%	3.11%	< 1,000 cfu/g	Negative
18 months	95.48%	3.75%	< 1,000 cfu/g	Negative
24 months	95.43%	3.82%	< 1,000 cfu/g	Negative
		Batch Number 2	0140313	
Duration	Assay ^a	Loss on Drying	Total Plate Count	Yeast & Mold
t=0	95.56%	3.16%	< 1,000 cfu/g	Negative
6 months	95.57%	3.21%	< 1,000 cfu/g	Negative
12 months	95.55%	3.25%	< 1,000 cfu/g	Negative
18 months	95.44%	3.32%	< 1,000 cfu/g	Negative
24 months	95.41%	3.94%	< 1,000 cfu/g	Negative
		Batch Number 20	0140314	
Duration	Assay ^a	Loss on Drying	Total Plate Count	Yeast & Mold
t=0	95.64%	3.51%	< 1,000 cfu/g	Negative
6 months	95.64%	3.53%	< 1,000 cfu/g	Negative
12 months	95.59%	3.62%	< 1,000 cfu/g	Negative
18 months	95.58%	3.71%	< 1,000 cfu/g	Negative
24 months	95.55%	3.84%	< 1,000 cfu/g	Negative

Table 3. SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% Storage Stability Data

^a Reported as Total Steviol Glycosides as the sum of Reb A, Reb B, Reb C, Reb D, Reb F, stevioside, dulcoside A, rubusoside, and steviolbioside.

The stability data in the scientific literature for stevioside, the JECFA report, and the extensive stability testing for rebaudioside A as presented by Merisant, Cargill, and Sunwin & WILD Flavors, along with Shandong's stability testing results, support the position that Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% purified steviol glycosides preparation is well-suited for the intended food uses.

9/11/17

PART 3. DIETARY EXPOSURE

The subject SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% is intended to be used as a table top sweetener and general purpose non-nutritive sweetener in various foods other than infant formulas and meat and poultry products. The intended use will be as a non-nutritive sweetener as defined in 21 CFR 170.3(o)(19).² The intended use levels will vary by actual food category, but the actual levels are self-limiting due to organoleptic factors and consumer taste considerations. However, the amounts of purified steviol glycosides preparations to be added to foods will not exceed the amounts reasonably required to accomplish its intended technical effect in foods as required by FDA regulation.³

A. Estimate of Dietary Exposure to the Substance

There have been many scholarly estimates of potential dietary intake replacement of sweeteners, including steviol glycosides, that have been published (FSANZ, 2008, WHO, 2003, Renwick, 2008) or submitted to FDA (Merisant, 2008). These are summarized in Appendix 5. In GRAS notification 301, a simplified estimate was proposed to, and accepted by, FDA based on the estimates of exposure in "sucrose equivalents" (Renwick, 2008) and the sweetness intensity of any particular sweetener (BioVittoria, 2009). As summarized in GRN 301, the 90th percentile consumer of a sweetener which is 100 times as sweet as sucrose when used as a total sugar replacement would be a maximum of 9.9 mg per kg bw per day for any population subgroup.

The estimated sweetness intensity for Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% purified steviol glycosides preparation ranges between 280 and 320-fold that of sucrose. Therefore, the highest 90th percentile consumption by any population subgroup of Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% purifed steviol glycosides preparation would consume approximately 3.54 mg per kg steviol glycosides bw per day. A weighted sum estimate was used to determine the steviol equivalency factor on a worst-case scenario basis. For example, Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% purified steviol glycosides steviol equivalence factor was calculated from the molecular weight ratios of steviol to rebaudioside A, stevioside, and the remaining steviol glycosides, on a percent composition basis, as follows:

 $SteviolEquivalenceFactor = \left(\frac{MWSteviol}{MW \operatorname{RebA}} * 0.50\right) + \left(\frac{MWSteviol}{MWStevioside} * 0.20\right) + \left(\frac{MWSteviol}{MW \operatorname{RebB}} * 0.01\right) + etc.$

 ² Non-nutritive sweeteners: Substances having less than 2 percent of the caloric value of sucrose per equivalent unit of sweetening capacity.
 ³ See 21 CFR 182.1(b)(1).

Based on a weighted sum estimate for steviol equivalents,⁴ the consumption would be less than 0.95 mg per kg bw per day on a steviol equivalents basis for any population group, on a worst-case scenario basis, for any of Shandong's purified steviol glycosides preparations. These calculations are summarized in Table 4.

Table 4. Daily Intake of Sweeteners (in Sucrose Equivalents) & Estimated Daily Intakes of SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% Purified Steviol Glycosides

Population Group	Intakes of suc (mg suc bw/c	Sweeteners crose/kg day) ^a	Calculated Intake of SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% (mg/kg bw/day) ^b		Calculated Stevia® T Glycosid Steviol E (mg/kg	ntake of SXY otal Steviol es 95% as quivalents bw/day) ^c
	Low	High	Low	High	Low	High
Healthy Population	255	675	0.91	2.41	0.24	0.65
Diabetic Adults	280	897	1.00	3.20	0.27	0.86
Healthy Children	425	990	1.52	3.54	0.41	0.95
Diabetic Children	672	908	2.40	3.24	0.64	0.87

^a From Renwick, 2008. Renwick (2008)

^b Calculated by dividing the sucrose intake by the minimum average relative sweetness value of 280 for Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95%.

^o Calculated based on the ratio of molecular weights of Reb A, stevioside, Reb B, Reb C, Reb D, Reb F, rubusoside, dulcoside A, and steviolbioside to steviol.

The values in Table 4 assume that Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% purified steviol glycosides preparation constitute the entire sweetener market, which makes these estimates extremely conservative since the likelihood of that occurrence is minimal. For the general healthy adult population, the estimated maximum intake of purified steviol glycosides is 2.41 mg per kg bw per day, or 0.65 mg per kg steviol equivalents. For healthy children, the estimated maximal intake is 3.54 mg per kg bw per day, or 0.95 mg per kg as steviol equivalents. In all population groups, the estimated daily intake of purified steviol glycosides, expressed as steviol equivalents, is well below the JECFA-established ADI of 4.0 mg per kg bw per day steviol equivalents.

⁴ Calculated by Expert Panel as percent of molecular weight of steviol to molecular weight of rebaudioside A, stevioside, rebaudioside B, rebaudioside C, rebaudioside D, rebaudioside F, rubusoside, dulcoside A, and steviolbioside, on a percent composition basis. Total steviol glycosides assumed to be 100%.

B. Estimated Dietary Exposure to Any Other Substance That is Expected to be Formed In or On Food

This section is not applicable to Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% purified steviol glycosides product, which would be chemically stable under conditions of use.

C. Dietary Exposure to Contaminants or Byproducts

While a recent publication by Kumari et al. (2016) has demonstrated the presence of TPC, TFC, and TAC in *S. rebaudiana* leaf --- and the observed activity has been attributed to naturally-occurring phytochemicals such as phenolics, flavonoids, and pigments in the plant --- the study has minimal relevance with regard to the safety considerations of the highly purified stevia extract, of which \geq 95% consists of the most familiar steviol glycosides. These contaminants, if present, are in low amounts and were likely similarly present in purified test materials that were used in the toxicology studies.

Furthermore, no concerns regarding dietary exposure to contaminants or byproducts have been raised by expert regulatory bodies, including the World Health Organization/Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (WHO/JECFA), European Food Safety Authority (EFSA), Food Standards Australia New Zealand (FSANZ), and FDA, since JECFA's first steviol glycosides review was performed in 2000 (WHO, 2000).

PART 4. SELF-LIMITING LEVELS OF USE

It has been well-documented in the published literature that the use of steviol glycosides is selflimiting due to organoleptic factors and consumer taste considerations (Kochikyan et al., 2006, Carakostas et al., 2008, Brandle et al., 1998, Prakash et al., 2008, Gupta et al., 2016, Gerwig et al., 2016). These organoleptic factors include bitterness and astringency, as well as a lingering metallic aftertaste (Gerwig et al., 2016).

PART 5. EXPERIENCE BASED ON COMMON USE IN FOOD BEFORE 1958

A. Other Information on Dietary Exposure

1. History of Traditional Medicinal and Human Food Use

Stevia has been used as a traditional medicine and sweetener by native Guarani tribes for centuries (Esen, 2016, Gerwig et al., 2016, Brusick, 2008, Brandle et al., 1998).

For about 30 years, consumers in Japan and Brazil, where stevia has long been approved as a food additive, have been using stevia extracts as non-caloric sweeteners (Raintree, 2012). It was previously reported that 40% of the artificial sweetener market in Japan had been stevia based and that stevia is commonly used in processed foods in Japan (Lester, 1999). Use of steviol glycosides as a dietary supplement is presently permitted in the US, Canada, Australia, and New Zealand, GRAS ASSOCIATES, LLC Page 20 of 143

9/11/17

and as a natural health product in Canada. It has wide use in China and Japan in food and in dietary supplements. In 2005, it was estimated that sales of stevia in the US reached \$45 million (Newsday, 2006).

More recent reports of consumption figures for stevia reveal pronounced increases in global consumption. Worldwide, Zenith International estimates stevia sales of 3,500 metric tons in 2010, which represents a 27% increase over 2009 figures. The market value is estimated to have increased to \$285 million (Zenith, 2011). In 2013, worldwide sales of stevia was reported to reach 4,100 tons which represents a 6.5% increase over 2011 figures, and this corresponds to an overall market value of \$304 million (Zenith, 2013).

In October 2014, Zenith International reported that worldwide stevia sales were on course to increase 14% to 4,670 tons, associated with a market value of \$336 million. Furthermore, it has been projected that the total market for stevia in 2017 will be 7,150 tons with an associated market value of \$578 million (Zenith, 2014).

More recently, NewHope360 reported that the global market for stevia in 2014 was \$347 million, and that is expected to increase to \$565.2 million by 2020. In addition, consumption is expected to increase from 2014 levels of 5,100.6 tons to 8,506.9 tons by 2020 (NewHope360, 2015).

Hawke (2003) reported that stevia is commonly used as a treatment for type 2 diabetes in South America. However, for its therapeutic effects, elevated doses in the range of 1 gram per person per day or more were reported to be necessary (Gregersen et al., 2004).

B. Summary of Regulatory History of SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95%

Stevia-derived sweeteners are permitted as food additives in South America and in several countries in Asia, including China, Japan, and Korea. In recent years, these sweeteners have received food usage approvals in Mexico, Australia, New Zealand, Switzerland, France, Peru, Uruguay, Colombia, Senegal, Russia, Malaysia, Turkey, Taiwan, Thailand, Israel, Canada, and Hong Kong (EFSA, 2010, Watson, 2010, Health Canada, 2012). In the US, steviol glycosides have been used as a dietary supplement since 1995 (Geuns, 2003).

1. U.S. Regulatory History

Based on available information from FDA's GRAS Notice Inventory website (FDA, 2017) as of August 10, 2017, FDA has issued 45 "no questions" letters on GRAS notices on rebaudioside A, rebaudioside D, rebaudioside M, or steviol glycosides, including those undergoing enzyme treatment. A summary of these filings is presented in Table 5.

Table 5. FDA's GRAS Notice Inventory on Rebaudioside & Steviol Glycosides Preparations^{a,c}

COMPANY	FDA GRAS	MATERIAL IDENTITY	INTENDED FOOD USES
1. Merisant	GRN 252	High-Purity Reb A ≥95%	Variety of food categories & table top sweetener
2. Cargill Inc.	GRN 253	High-Purity Reb A ≥97%	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat & poultry products
3. McNeil Nutritionals LLC	GRN 275	Purified Steviol Glycosides – Reb A Principal Component	Table top sweetener
4. Blue California	GRN 278	High-Purity Reb A ≥97%	General-purpose & table top sweetener
5. Sweet Green Fields LLC	GRN 282	High-Purity Reb A ≥97%	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat & poultry products
6. Wisdom Natural Brands	GRN 287	Purified Steviol Glycosides >95% - Reb A and Stevioside Principal Component	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas
7. Sunwin USA LLC & WILD Flavors	GRN 303	High-Purity Reb A ≥95%/ ≥98%	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas
8. Sunwin USA LLC & WILD Flavors	GRN 304	Purified Steviol Glycosides >95% - Reb A and Stevioside Principal Component	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas
9. Pyure Brands, LLC	GRN 318	High-Purity Reb A 95%/ 98%	General-purpose & table top sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas
10. PureCircle USA Inc	GRN 323	Purified Steviol Glycosides – Reb A Principal Component	General-purpose & table top sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas
11. GLG Life Tech Ltd ^c	GRN 329	High-Purity Reb A ≥97%	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat & poultry products
12. NOW Foods	GRN 337	Enzyme Modified Steviol Glycosides Preparation (EMSGP)	General-purpose sweetener in foods, excluding meat & poultry products, at levels determined by good manufacturing practices
13. GLG Life Tech Ltdc	GRN 348	High-Purity Stevioside ≥95%	General-purpose & table top sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas
14. GLG Life Tech Ltd ^c	GRN 349	High-Purity Steviol Glycosides ≥97%	General-purpose & table top sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas
15. Guilin Layn Natural Ingredients, Corp.	GRN 354	High-Purity Reb A ≥97%	General-purpose & table top sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas
16. BrazTek International Inc.	GRN 365	Purified Reb A	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat & poultry products
17. Sinochem Qingdao Co. Ltd.	GRN 367	High-Purity Steviol Glycosides ≥95%	General-purpose & table top sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas
18. Shanghai Freemen Americas LLC	GRN 369	Purified Reb A	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat & poultry products

COMPANY	FDA GRAS	MATERIAL IDENTITY	INTENDED FOOD USES
19. Toyo Sugar Refining Co., Ltd. & Nippon Paper Chemicals Co., Ltd.	GRN 375	Enzyme Modified Steviol Glycosides	General-purpose sweetener in foods, excluding meat and poultry products, at levels determined by good manufacturing practices
20. GLG Life Tech Ltdb	GRN 380	Purified Reb A	General purpose & table top sweetener, excluding meat & poultry products
21. Chengdu Wagott Pharmaceutical	GRN 388	Purified Reb A	General purpose & table top sweetener, excluding meat & poultry products
22. Chengdu Wagott Pharmaceutical	GRN 389	Steviol Glycosides with Stevioside as the Principal Component	General purpose & table top sweetener, excluding meat & poultry products
23. Daepyung Co., Ltd.	GRN 393	Purified Reb A	General purpose & table top sweetener, excluding meat & poultry products
24. Daepyung Co., Ltd.	GRN 395	Steviol Glycosides with Reb A and Stevioside as the Principal Components	General purpose & table top sweetener, excluding meat & poultry products
25. MiniStar International, Inc.	GRN 418	Purified Reb A	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas.
26. Daepyung Co., Ltd.	GRN 448	Enzyme Modified Steviol Glycosides	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas.
27. Daepyung Co., Ltd.	GRN 452	Enzyme Modified Steviol Glycosides	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas.
28. PureCircle USA, Inc.	GRN 456	High-Purity Reb D <u>≥</u> 95%	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas.
29. Almendra, Ltd.	GRN 461	High-Purity Reb A ≥97%	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas.
30. Qufu Xiangzhou Stevia Products Co., Ltd.	GRN 467	High-Purity Reb A ≥98%	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas.
31. PureCircle USA, Inc.	GRN 473	Purified Steviol Glycosides – Reb M (Reb X) Principal Component	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas.
32. GLG Life Tech Corp.	GRN 493	High purity steviol glycosides <u>>95%</u>	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products.
33. GLG Life Tech Corp.	GRN 512	High purity Reb M <u>></u> 95%	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas.
34. Almendra Limited	GRN 516	Steviol Glycosides with Reb A and Stevioside as the Principal Components	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas.

9/11/17

COMPANY	FDA GRAS	MATERIAL IDENTITY	INTENDED FOOD USES
35. GLG Life Tech Corp.	GRN 536	High purity Reb C and Steviol glycosides with Reb C as the Principal Component	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas.
36. GLG Life Tech Corp.	GRN 548	High purity Reb D	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas.
37. Productora Alysa SpA	GRN 555	Steviol Glycosides with Reb A as the Principal Component	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas.
38. PureCircle, Ltd.	GRN 607	Glucosylated steviol glycosides (minimum purity 80%)	Use as a flavoring agent and flavor modifier at levels ranging from 100 to 1,000 ppm
39. PureCircle, Ltd.	GRN 619	Steviol Glycosides ≥95%	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas.
40. Cargill, Inc.	GRN 626	Steviol glycosides (Reb M and Reb D) produced in Saccharomyces cerevisiae	General-purpose sweetener
41. DSM Nutritional Products, LLC.	GRN 632	Rebaudioside A from Yarrowia lipolytica	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas.
42. Hunan Huacheng Biotech Inc.	GRN 638	High purity steviol glycosides with Reb A as the principal component	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas.
43. GLG Life Tech Corporation	GRN 656	Enzyme-modified steviol glycosides	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas.
44. PureCircle USA	GRN 662	Glucosylated steviol glycosides	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas.
45. Blue California	GRN 667	Rebaudioside M	General-purpose sweetener, excluding meat, poultry products & infant formulas

^a This table was derived, in part, from (McQuate, 2011).

^b The name of this company is now GLG Life Tech Corporation.

^c GRN 702, submitted by Xinghua GL Stevia Co., Ltd., regarding purified steviol glycosides, was filed by FDA and is presently under review.

In addition, the Flavor and Extract Manufacturers Association (FEMA) has included several steviol glycosides preparations on their GRAS lists as shown in Table 6.

STEVIOL GLYCOSIDES PREPARATION	FEMA NUMBER	REFERENCE
Rebaudioside A	4601	(Smith et al., 2009)
Rebaudioside C; dulcoside B	4720	(Leffingwell, 2011)
Glucosyl steviol glycosides; enzymatically modified stevia extract	4728	(Leffingwell and Leffingwell, 2014, Marnett et al., 2013)
Stevioside	4763	(Leffingwell and Leffingwell, 2014, Marnett et al., 2013)
Steviol glycoside extract, Stevia rebaudiana, Rebaudioside A 60%	4771	(Marnett et al., 2013)
Steviol glycoside extract, Stevia rebaudiana, Rebaudioside A 80%	4772	(Marnett et al., 2013)
Steviol glycoside extract, Stevia rebaudiana, Rebaudioside C 30%	4796	(Cohen et al., 2015a, Cohen et al., 2015b)
Steviol glycoside extract, Stevia rebaudiana, Rebaudioside A 22%	4805	(Cohen et al., 2015a, Cohen et al., 2015b)
Steviol glycoside extract, Stevia rebaudiana Rebaudioside C 22%	4806	(Cohen et al., 2015a, Cohen et al., 2015b)

Table 6. FEMA GRAS Status for Steviol Glycoside Preparations

2. Canadian Regulatory History

On September 18, 2009, based on a review of the international regulation of *Stevia rebaudiana* and the clinical evidence for safety and efficacy, the Natural Health Products Directorate, Health Canada (2009) adopted the following guidelines for the use of *stevia* and steviol glycosides in Natural Health Products (NHPs) (Health Canada, 2009). The revised recommendation for the maximum limit for steviol glycosides in NHPs is in accordance with the full acceptable daily intake (ADI) of 4 mg steviol per kg bw established by JECFA (WHO, 2008).

On November 30, 2012, Health Canada published its final clearance for use of steviol glycosides as a sweetener in foods (Health Canada, 2012). In March 2014, Health Canada updated the List of Permitted Sweeteners (Lists of Permitted Food Additives) to include steviol glycosides in applications as a table-top sweetener and as an ingredient in a variety of foods, beverages, baked goods, meal replacement bars, condiments, and confectionary and gums (Health Canada, 2014). On January 15, 2016, Health Canada approved the use of Reb M for use as a high-intensity sweetener under the same conditions as the previously approved steviol glycosides (Health Canada, 2016).

Most recently, Health Canada's Food Directorate has updated its List of Permitted Sweeteners to allow for the use of steviol glycosides as a sweetener in 'unstandardized snack bars,' including granola bars, cereal bars, fiber bars, and protein isolate-based bars (Health Canada, 2017).

3. European Regulatory History

The Joint Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA) reviewed steviol glycosides at its 51st, 63rd, 68th and 73rd meetings. In 2000, JECFA published the original review on steviol glycosides (WHO, 2000). JECFA established a temporary ADI (acceptable daily intake) of 0-2 mg per kg (on a steviol basis) at its 63rd meeting (WHO, 2006). Additionally, JECFA finalized food grade specifications (FAO, 2007b), although they were subsequently updated in 2008 (FAO, 2008) and 2010 (FAO, 2010) (see below). At the 69th meeting, the temporary status of the ADI was removed, and the ADI was raised to 0-4 mg per kg bw per day (on a steviol basis) as a result of the JECFA review of more recently completed clinical studies with steviol glycosides (WHO, 2008). In 2009, JECFA published a final monograph addendum on steviol glycosides (WHO, 2009).

In early 2009, a number of parties, including the government of Australia and the Calorie Control Council, submitted a request to the Codex Committee on Food Additives in which it was proposed that the JECFA specifications for steviol glycosides should be modified to allow inclusion of rebaudioside D and rebaudioside F as specifically named acceptable glycosides that would be considered as part of the minimum 95% steviol glycosides composition (CCFA, 2009). This proposed modification was endorsed by the Codex Alimentarius Committee in July 2009; it was on the agenda for discussion at the JECFA Meeting in June, 2010 (FAO/WHO, 2009), and JECFA subsequently took final action in approving the modified steviol glycosides specifications to include rebaudioside D and rebaudioside F (FAO, 2010).

In 2008, Switzerland's Federal Office for Public Health approved the use of stevia as a sweetener citing the favorable actions of JECFA (Health, 2008). Subsequently, France published its approval for the food uses of rebaudioside A with a purity of 97% (AFSSA, 2009a, AFSSA, 2009b).

In light of JECFA's 2008 findings, and in response to a June 2008 request by the European Commission for European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) to deliver a scientific opinion on the safety of steviol glycosides as a sweetener for use in the food categories specified in the dossiers from three petitioners, EFSA reexamined the safety of steviol glycosides (EFSA, 2010). After considering all the data on stability, degradation products, metabolism and toxicology, the EFSA Panel established an ADI for steviol glycosides, expressed as steviol equivalents, of 4 mg per bw per day, which is similar to JECFA's determination.⁵ In addition, on May 25, 2011, EFSA published a determination that the daily dietary intake for use of rebaudioside A as a flavoring substance in a variety of foods would be less than the ADI for steviol glycosides (EFSA, 2011a). In 2014, EFSA

⁵ From a historical perspective, it is noted that the UK's Advisory Committee on Novel Foods and Processes for the Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food on September 24, 1998 rejected an application for use of steviol glycosides as a sweetener in herbal teas because "the applicant had not provided all of the information necessary to enable an assessment to be made" MAFF (1998) Advisory Committee on Novel Foods and Processes for the Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food. Available at:

http://archive.food.gov.uk/maff/archive/food/novel/980924.htm (Accessed: June 30, 2014.). In 1999, the Scientific Committee on Food for the European Commission concluded that "there are no satisfactory data to support the safe use of these stevia plants and leaves" EuropeanCommission (1999a) 'Opinion on Stevia Rebaudiana Bertoni plants and leaves. Scientific Committee on Food (CS/NF/STEV/3 Final, 17 June 1999).'. In another opinion also dated June 17, 1999, the Committee also reiterated "its earlier opinion that stevioside is not acceptable as a sweetener on the presently available data" EuropeanCommission (1999b) 'Opinion on stevioside as a sweetener. Scientific Committee on Food (CS/ADD/EDUL/167Final, 17 June 1999)'.

evaluated extending the use of steviol glycosides as ingredients in food categories to include coffee, tea, and herbal and fruit infusions (assessed at 10 mg per L steviol glycosides). Exposure estimates were lower than those determined by the Panel in 2011 due to available data, and remained below the ADI of 4 mg per kg bw per day, with the exception of toddlers from one country at the 95th percentile exposure level of 4.3 mg per kg bw per day (EFSA, 2014). More recently, exposure estimates, based on maximum permitted levels (MPLs) and proposed use levels increased to 29 mg per L steviol glycosides, were found to have a "negligible" impact on dietary intake for all population groups, with the mean exposure estimate below the ADI of 4 mg per kg bw per day, with the exception of toddlers from one country at the 95th percentile exposure level of 4.3 mg per kg bw per day. The EFSA panel concluded that "dietary exposure to steviol glycosides (E 960) is similar to the exposure estimated in 2014 and therefore does not change the outcome of the safety assessment" (EFSA, 2015).

The appropriate European regulatory bodies, including the joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA) and the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA), have now agreed that steviol glycosides are safe for all populations to consume and are a suitable sweetening option for diabetics. Effective December 2, 2011, the EU approved their use as food additives (EU, 2011). In March 2016, the EU approved the use of steviol glycosides in mustard (Michail, 2016).

Most recently, an amendment to the EU food additives regulation 231/2012, which became active on November 3, 2016, removed the previous requirement for stevia blends to contain at least 75% reb A or stevioside. In addition, the updated regulation ---(EU) 2016/1814---now permits the following steviol glycosides in stevia blends: stevioside, rebaudiosides A, B, C, D, E, F and M, steviolbioside, rubusoside, and dulcoside (Searby, 2016).

4. Asian Regulatory History

As of May 2010, the government of Hong Kong amended its food regulations to allow the use of steviol glycosides as a permitted sweetener in foods (Safety, 2010). This action followed in the aftermath of the detailed safety evaluation and favorable findings as reported by JECFA.

The international community continued to exhibit much interest in the food uses of steviol glycosides, with additional advances reported in early July 2011. The Codex Alimentarius Commission has adopted proposed maximum use levels for steviol glycosides in all major food and beverage categories, and this action was expected to favorably influence authorizations of stevia uses in India, Indonesia, Thailand, and the Philippines (FoodNavigator, 2011). An article published online by FoodNavigator (2013) states the following: "with approvals now in Vietnam, the Philippines, Malaysia, Singapore and Thailand, Indonesia is the only [Southeast Asian nation] where stevia hasn't been given the rubber stamp" (Whitehead, 2013). Furthermore, the International Alliance of Dietary/Food Supplement Associations (IADSA) reported that the Codex Alimentarius Commission agreed to adopt the use of steviol glycosides for addition to chewable food supplements as had been requested by IADSA (NewHope360, 2011).

9/11/17

The Food Safety and Standards Authority of India (FSSAI) convened on September 20, 2012, at which time they approved the use of steviol glycosides as a non-nutritive sweetener in a variety of foods. The FSSAI specified that: the steviol glycosides must meet the specifications and purity as established by JECFA; table top sweetener tablets may contain 7 mg of steviol equivalents per 100 mg carrier/filler, as well as established maximum use levels specific to 11 distinct food categories including dairy, beverage, and chewing gum applications (FSSAI, 2012).

Since December 10, 2012, over thirty registrations have been granted by FDA Philippines to standalone steviol glycosides sweeteners or foods containing steviol glycosides as ingredients, including: FR-104390, Steviten Light Brand Steviol Glycosides 95% Sweetener Powder; FR-109427, Del Monte Pineapple Chunks in Extra Light Syrup Reduced Calorie with Steviol Glycosides from Stevia; FR-101120, Diebetamil Zero Calorie Sweetener with Stevia (stick pack); and FR-102127, Sawayaka Stevia Sweetener (1 g sticks) (Philippines, 2014).

Steviol glycosides are also listed under INS number 960 in the Food Additives Permitted Under the Singapore Food Regulations document prepared by the Agri-Food & Veterinary Authority (AVA) of Singapore (AVA, 2014).

5. Other Regulatory History

In 2008, the Food Standards Australia New Zealand (FSANZ) completed its evaluation of an application for use of steviol glycosides in foods. FSANZ recommended that the Australia and New Zealand Food Regulation Ministerial Council (Ministerial Council) amend the Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code to allow the use of steviol glycosides in food (FSANZ, 2008). In December 2010, FSANZ recommended accepting the increased usage levels as requested since no public health and safety issues were identified (FSANZ, 2010). Subsequently, FSANZ approved an increase in the maximum permitted level (MPL) of steviol glycosides (expressed as steviol equivalents) in ice cream, water based beverages, brewed soft drinks, formulated beverages, and flavored soy beverages up to 200 mg per kg, and in plain soy beverages up to 100 mg per kg (FSANZ, 2011). In a recent risk assessment, FSANZ concluded that the use of Reb M does not pose any "public health and safety issues" (FSANZ, 2015b). In addition, FSANZ proposed to add Reb M to the list of permitted steviol glycosides (FSANZ, 2015a). On January 14, 2016, Reb M was approved for use "as a food additive in accordance with the current permissions for steviol glycosides" (FSANZ, 2016a).

Most recently, FSANZ called for submissions on permitting all minor steviol glycosides extracted from stevia leaf to be included in the definition of steviol glycosides in the Food Standards Code, noting that "[no] evidence was found to suggest that the proposed changes pose any public health and safety concerns." The submission period ended on December 19, 2016 (FSANZ, 2016b). Subsequently, on February 8, 2017, FSANZ approved a draft variation of the definition of steviol glycosides to include all steviol glycosides present in the *Stevia rebaudiana* leaf (FSANZ, 2017).

9/11/17

On September 10, 2012, the South African Department of Health issued an amendment to labeling regulations indicating: "in the case of the sweetener steviol glycosides, it shall be described as 'Steviol Glycosides' or 'Steviol Extract." On the same date, steviol glycosides were added to the List of Permissible Sweeteners (RSADH, 2012b, RSADH, 2012a).

PART 6. NARRATIVE

The biological, toxicological, and clinical effects of stevia and steviol glycosides have been extensively reviewed (Carakostas et al., 2008, Geuns, 2003, Huxtable, 2002). Additionally---and as noted earlier---the national and international regulatory agencies have thoroughly reviewed the safety of stevia and its glycosides. Most notably, over the years, JECFA has evaluated purified steviol glycosides multiple times (WHO, 2000, WHO, 2006, WHO, 2007, WHO, 2008), and their findings have been summarized in Part 5.B.3. FSANZ (2008) also evaluated steviol glycosides for use in food. The JECFA reviews, as well as the other reviews completed before 2008, primarily focused on mixtures of steviol glycosides. These studies are summarized in Appendix 6.

Since the JECFA evaluation (WHO, 2008), over forty GRAS notifications for steviol glycosides or enzyme modified steviol glycosides have been submitted to FDA. In each case, FDA has agreed with the conclusions that steviol glycosides are GRAS based largely on the 0-4 mg per kg bw per day ADI on a steviol equivalence basis that was established by JECFA. A recent publication by Roberts et al. (2016) indicates that the ADI could be higher, as discussed further in Appendix 5. Among the GRAS notifications submitted to FDA, several assessed purified preparations of rebaudioside A, and they were supported by additional toxicology and clinical studies that are summarized in Appendix 8. To date, 45 of the submitted notifications have had "no questions" letters of response from FDA (see Table 5).

Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% purified steviol glycosides preparation contains not less than 95% steviol glycosides, and is composed of rebaudioside A, stevioside, rebaudioside B, rebaudioside C, rebaudioside D, rebaudioside F, dulcoside A, rubusoside, and steviolbioside. Given the structural similarities with rebaudioside A, stevioside, and other steviol glycosides, and considering analogous metabolic pathways for all these substances, the safety data on stevia and its other components have a direct bearing on the present safety assessment for Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% purified steviol glycosides preparation. This is further supported by over a decade and a half of scientific studies on the safety of these substances, along with the fact that the major regulatory bodies view the results of toxicology studies on either stevioside or rebaudioside A as applicable to the safety assessment of all known steviol glycosides, since all are metabolized and excreted by similar pathways, with steviol being the common metabolite for each. The foundational safety of Reb A, other steviol glycosides and steviol has been summarized, with key studies detailed in Appendices 7-9.

Shandong has reviewed this safety information and has concluded that their SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% purified steviol glycosides preparation is generally recognized as safe for the proposed uses.

A. GRAS Criteria

FDA defines "safe" or "safety" as it applies to food ingredients as:

"...reasonable certainty in the minds of competent scientists that the substance is not harmful under the intended conditions of use."⁶

Amplification is provided in that the conclusion of safety is to include probable consumption of the substance in question, the cumulative effect of the substance and appropriate safety factors. It is FDA's operational definition of safety that serves as the framework against which this evaluation is provided.

Furthermore, in discussing GRAS criteria, FDA notes that:

"...General recognition of safety requires common knowledge, throughout the expert scientific community knowledgeable about the safety of substances directly or indirectly added to food, that there is reasonable certainty that the substance is not harmful under the conditions of its intended use."

"Common knowledge' can be based on either "scientific procedures" or on experience based on common use of a substance in food prior to January 1, 1958."⁷

FDA discusses in more detail what is meant by the requirement of general knowledge and acceptance of pertinent information within the scientific community, i.e., the so-called "common knowledge element," in terms of the two following component elements:⁸

- Data and information relied upon to establish safety must be generally available, and this is most commonly established by utilizing published, peer-reviewed scientific journals; and
- There must be a basis to conclude that there is consensus (but not unanimity) among qualified scientists about the safety of the substance for its intended use, and this is established by relying upon secondary scientific literature such as published review articles, textbooks, or compendia, or by obtaining opinions of expert panels or opinions from authoritative bodies, such as JECFA and the National Academy of Sciences.

⁶ See 21 CFR 170.3 (e)(i) and 81 FR 54959 Available at: <u>https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/08/17/2016-19164/substances-generally-recognized-as-safe</u> (Accessed on 4/15/17).

⁷ See 81 FR 54959 Available at: <u>https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/08/17/2016-19164/substances-generally-recognized-as-safe</u> (Accessed on 4/15/17).

⁸ See Footnote 1.

9/11/17

General recognition of safety based upon scientific procedures shall require the same quantity and quality of scientific evidence as is required to obtain approval of a food additive. General recognition of safety through scientific procedures shall be based upon the application of generally available and accepted scientific data, information, or methods, which ordinarily are published, as well as the application of scientific principles, and may be corroborated by the application of unpublished scientific data, information, or methods.

The apparent imprecision of the terms "appreciable," "at the time," and "reasonable certainty" demonstrates that the FDA recognizes the impossibility of providing absolute safety in this or any other area (Lu, 1988, Renwick, 1990, Rulis and Levitt, 2009).

As noted below, this safety assessment to ascertain GRAS status for high purity steviol glycosides for the specified food uses meets FDA criteria for reasonable certainty of no harm by considering both the technical and common knowledge elements.

B. Expert Panel Findings on Safety of SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95%

Because of their sweetness characteristics, steviol glycosides have viable uses as a non-nutritive sweetener in foods.⁹ Periodic reviews by JECFA over the years indicate the progression of knowledge on the toxicology of steviol glycosides. Several early safety-related studies on these compounds were performed on crude extracts of stevia. These studies also included multiple investigations with *in vivo* and *in vitro* models, which explored the biological activity of stevia extracts at high doses or high concentrations. These early investigations raised several concerns, including impairment of fertility, renal effects, interference with glucose metabolism, and inhibition of mitochondrial enzymes. In recent years, as more and more studies were performed on purified glycosides, the toxicology profile of steviol glycosides eventually proved to be rather unremarkable. A number of subchronic, chronic, and reproductive studies have been conducted in laboratory animals. These studies were well designed with appropriate dosing regimens and adequate numbers of animals to maximize the probability of detection of important effects. Notably, the initially reported concerns related to the effects of stevia leaves or crude extracts on fertility were refuted by the well-designed reproductive studies with purified steviol glycosides. All other concerns failed to manifest themselves at the doses employed in the long-term rat studies.

As discussed in Appendix 6 and elsewhere, at its 51st meeting, JECFA determined that there were adequate chronic studies in rats, particularly the study by Toyoda et al. (1997), to establish a temporary ADI of 0 - 2 mg per kg bw per day with an adequate margin of safety (Toyoda et al.,

⁹ It has also been reported that steviol glycosides may have pharmacological properties, which can be used to treat certain disease conditions such as hypertension and type 2 diabetes. Chatsudthipong, V. and Muanprasat, C. (2009) 'Stevioside and related compounds: therapeutic benefits beyond sweetness', *Pharmacology & therapeutics*, 121(1), pp. 41-54., as well as others, have published reviews where they note that such therapeutic applications have not been firmly established as being due to steviol glycosides. The reviewers point out that the effects occur at higher doses than would be used for sweetening purposes. Furthermore, many effects noted in older studies may have been due to impurities in preparations that do not meet the contemporary purity specifications established by JECFA for use as a sweetener. If oral doses of steviol glycosides impart pharmacological effects, such effects would undoubtedly occur due to actions of the principal metabolite, steviol, but the pharmacological effects of steviol have not been comprehensively investigated. For more a more comprehensive discussion of this subject, see Section 7 of Appendix 9.

9/11/17

1997). The committee also critically reviewed the lack of carcinogenic response in well-conducted studies. These studies validated the Committee conclusion that the *in vitro* mutagenic activity of steviol did not present a risk of carcinogenic effects *in vivo* and, therefore, all common steviol glycosides that likely share the same basic metabolic and excretory pathway and that use high purity preparations of various steviol glycosides, are safe as a sugar substitute. Subsequently, the additional clinical data reviewed by JECFA allowed the Committee to establish a permanent ADI of 0 - 4 mg per kg bw per day (based on steviol equivalents). The GRAS Expert Panel critically reviewed the JECFA assessment and agrees with the calculation of the ADI for steviol glycosides.

Several published and unpublished studies (summarized in Appendix 8) on purified preparations of rebaudioside A showed an absence of toxicological effects in rats (Curry and Roberts, 2008, Nikiforov and Eapen, 2008) and dogs (Eapen, 2008) in subchronic studies, and an absence of reproductive (Curry et al., 2008, Sloter, 2008a) and developmental effects (Sloter, 2008b) in rats. Most notably, pharmacokinetic studies in rats (Roberts and Renwick, 2008) and humans (Wheeler et al., 2008) on purified rebaudioside A follow the same pathway of being degraded to steviol by intestinal bacteria with subsequent rapid glucosylation and elimination in urine and feces. The Panel concludes that these studies on rebaudioside A strengthen the argument that all steviol glycosides that follow the same metabolic pathway are safe at the JECFA established ADI.

The Panel has reviewed the findings from human clinical studies. The Panel noted that, regarding the clinical effects reported in humans, in order to corroborate the observations in these studies that these effects of steviol glycosides only occur in patients with either elevated blood glucose or blood pressure (or both), JECFA called for studies in individuals that are neither hypertensive nor diabetic (WHO, 2006). The supplemental data presented to JECFA and also published by Barriocanal et al. (2008) demonstrate the lack of pharmacological effects of steviol glycosides at 11 mg per kg bw per day in normal individuals, or approximately slightly more than 4 mg per kg bw on the basis of steviol equivalents (Barriocanal et al., 2008). Clinical studies on purified rebaudioside A showed an absence of effects on blood pressure (Maki et al., 2008a) and blood glucose levels (Maki et al., 2008b) at doses slightly higher than the exposures expected in food. The Panel concludes that there will be no effects on blood pressure and glucose metabolism in humans at the doses of steviol glycosides expected from its use in food as a non-nutritive sweetener.

Two previously published studies summarized in Appendix 7 raised a potential concern regarding the toxicological effects of steviol glycosides. In one study, DNA damage was seen in a variety of organs as assessed by Comet assay in rats given drinking water containing 4 mg per mL steviol glycosides for up to 45 days (Nunes et al., 2007a). Several experts in the field have since questioned the methodology used in this study (Geuns, 2007a, Williams, 2007, Brusick, 2008). The Panel has reviewed the cited publications, along with the responses made by the authors (Nunes et al., 2007c, Nunes et al., 2007b), and concurs with the challenges to the methodology utilized by Nunes et al. (2007a), thereby discounting the validity and importance of this study.

In another study with stevioside in rats, tartrate-resistant alkaline phosphatase (TRAP) levels were measured and found to be significantly decreased at doses as low as 15 mg per kg bw (Awney et al., 2011). TRAP is an enzyme that is expressed by bone-resorbing osteoclasts, inflammatory macrophages, and dendritic cells. This enzyme was not measured in any previous toxicology studies on steviol glycosides, nor has it been adequately vetted for application in toxicological studies. Critical reviews of this study by Carakostas (2012) and (Waddell, 2011) revealed a poor study design that included: insufficient numbers of animals; group-housing with the potential for stress-related changes; unreliable access to steviol *via* drinking water resulting in suspect dosing calculations in group-housed cages; no indication of fasting prior to blood collection (which affects many chemistry and hematological values); no urine collection; and no histopathological evaluations for confirmation of findings beyond the controls. Additionally, the report did not adequately describe mean or individual organ weight data, and it lacked comparison of study findings against laboratory historical control data.

Urban et al. (2013) examined the extensive genotoxicity database on steviol glycosides because some concern has been expressed in two relatively recent publications (Brahmachari et al., 2011, Tandel, 2011) in which the authors concluded that additional testing is necessary to adequately address the genotoxicity profile (Urban et al., 2013). The review aimed to address this matter by evaluating the specific genotoxicity studies of concern, while evaluating the adequacy of the database that includes more recent genotoxicity data not noted in these publications. The results of this literature review showed that the current database of *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies for steviol glycosides is robust and does not indicate that either stevioside or rebaudioside A are genotoxic. This finding, combined with a paucity of evidence for neoplasm development in rat bioassays, establishes the safety of all steviol glycosides with respect to their genotoxic/carcinogenic potential.

In addition, a recent paper by Shannon et al. (2016) raises a possible concern of endocrine disruption by steviol. The Panel has reviewed the publication and notes that the effects on progesterone production and on the action of progesterone (both antagonistic and agonistic) were observed *in vitro* in sperm cells. The Panel concludes that it is difficult to translate *in vitro* concentrations to local concentrations *in vivo* at receptors and that no adverse effects were observed in well-conducted reproductive toxicology studies. Therefore, this study does not alter the opinion of the Expert Panel that steviol glycosides preparations, with rebaudioside A and stevioside as the main components, are generally recognized as safe. A summary of this study is provided in Appendix 7.

The Expert Panel agrees with the safety conclusions of the 45 GRAS Expert Panels in the notifications for steviol glycosides previously submitted to FDA that resulted in "no questions" responses from FDA (as summarized in Table 5), JECFA (WHO, 2006, WHO, 2008), and Renwick (2008) that a sufficient number of good quality health and safety studies exist to support the determination that purified preparations of steviol glycosides, when added to food at levels up to full replacement of sucrose on a sweetness equivalency basis, meet FDA's definition of safe.

9/11/17

The Panel concludes that it is reasonable to apply the JECFA ADI of 4 mg per kg bw per day for steviol glycosides (expressed on a steviol basis) to Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95%. Therefore, with the steviol equivalence values shown in Table 4, the Panel concludes that, for the general population, the estimated maximum daily intake of Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% purified steviol glycosides preparation is 3.54 mg per kg bw or 0.95 mg per kg expressed as steviol equivalents. Based upon these calculations, the intake of all of Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% safely aligns with the 4 mg per kg bw per day ADI expressed as steviol equivalents as determined by JECFA.

C. Common Knowledge Elements for GRAS Conclusions

The first common knowledge element for a GRAS conclusion requires that data and information relied upon to establish safety must be generally available; this is most commonly established by utilizing studies published in peer-reviewed scientific journals. The second common knowledge element for a GRAS conclusion requires that consensus exists within the broader scientific community.

1. Public Availability of Scientific Information

The majority of the studies reviewed on steviol glycosides and steviol have been published in the scientific literature as summarized in Appendices 7, 8, and 9. Most of the literature relied upon by JECFA has also been published---most importantly the chronic rat studies on steviol glycosides. JECFA did make limited use of unpublished studies, and they were summarized in the two JECFA monographs. Moreover, JECFA publicly releases the results of their safety reviews, and their meeting summaries and monographs are readily available on their website.

With regard to the safety documentation, the key pharmacokinetic data establish that steviol glycosides are not appreciably absorbed through the GI tract, per se; they are converted to steviol by bacteria normally present in the large intestine, and the steviol is absorbed but rapidly metabolized and excreted. It has been well-established experimentally from various published studies that the steviol glycosides molecules are not absorbed from the GI tract (Gardana et al., 2003, Koyama et al., 2003). The action of bacteria in the large intestine is directly supported by the published study that steviol glycosides can be converted to steviol in the large intestine by normal anaerobic GI flora as demonstrated by an in vitro study in fecal homogenates (Koyama et al., 2003, Renwick and Tarka, 2008). The ADI for steviol glycosides has been set largely based on a published chronic study in rats (Toyoda et al., 1997) and several published clinical studies that there are no pharmacological effects in humans at doses several fold higher than the ADI (Barriocanal et al., 2006, Barriocanal et al., 2008, Wheeler et al., 2008). Recently, Roberts et al. (2016) noted that the ADI could be higher than the 4 mg per kg bw per day figure (on a steviol equivalency basis) as established by JECFA based on evidence that glucuronidation of absorbed steviol is faster in humans than rats. The toxicity of the metabolite steviol has been well reviewed in the published literature (Geuns, 2003, WHO, 2006, Urban et al., 2013). In addition, there is a large, publicly available, collection of GRNs regarding steviol glycosides on FDA's website.

GRAS ASSOCIATES, LLC

Page 34 of 143

9/11/17

2. Scientific Consensus

The second common knowledge element for a GRAS conclusion requires that there must be a basis to conclude that consensus exists among qualified scientists about the safety of the substance for its intended use.

The Panel maintains that well-qualified scientists would conclude that Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% purified steviol glycosides preparation is not absorbed from the GI tract, *per se*. By virtue of fundamental principles of pharmacokinetics, the majority of scientists would support this determination, and they would likewise concur that the subject SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% undergoes a conversion to steviol as is known to be the case with naturally occurring steviol glycosides.

A number of well-respected regulatory agencies, including JECFA, EFSA, FSANZ, the Switzerland Office of Public Health, and Health Canada, as well as numerous well-respected individual scientists, have indicated that steviol glycosides are safe for human consumption at doses in the range of the JECFA ADI (FAO, 2010, EFSA, 2010, FSANZ, 2008, Health, 2008, Health Canada, 2012, Xili et al., 1992, Toyoda et al., 1997, Geuns, 2003, Williams, 2007). We also note that, since December 2008, over forty GRAS notifications have been submitted to FDA for highly purified stevia-derived sweetener products, and FDA detailed reviews have consistently yielded "no questions" letters.

In summary, a compelling case can be made that scientific consensus exists regarding the safety of steviol glycosides when of sufficiently high purity. While the scientific conclusions are not unanimous regarding the safe human food uses of steviol glycosides, the Panel believes that a wide consensus does exist in the scientific community to support a GRAS conclusion as evidenced by several publications (Carakostas, 2012, Geuns, 2007a, Urban et al., 2013, Waddell, 2011, Williams, 2007, Brusick, 2008) that refute safety concerns expressed by a minority of scientists. Furthermore, FDA has reviewed 45 notifications regarding purified steviol glycosides preparations that yielded "no questions" letters, and these actions further support a scientific consensus of safety for steviol glycosides.

D. Conclusion

In consideration of the aggregate safety information available on naturally occurring steviol glycosides, Shandong and the designated Expert Panel¹⁰ conclude that the purified steviol glycosides (\geq 95% total steviol glycosides) defined in the subject notification are safe for use as a general purpose non-nutritive sweetener in foods other than infant formulas and meat and poultry

¹⁰ The detailed educational and professional credentials for two of the individuals serving on the Expert Panel can be found on the GRAS Associates website at www.gras-associates.com. Drs. Kraska and McQuate worked on GRAS and food additive safety issues within FDA's GRAS Review Branch earlier in their careers, and subsequently continued working within this area in the private sector. Dr. Emmel has substantial food safety experience in addressing steviol glycosides and other food ingredients. All three panelists have extensive technical backgrounds in the evaluation of food ingredient safety and in participating in the deliberations of GRAS Expert Panels. Dr. Kraska served as Chair of the Panel.

9/11/17

products. The JECFA ADI for steviol glycosides of 4 mg per kg bw per day (as steviol equivalents) can be applied to Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% purified steviol glycosides preparation. Based on published dietary exposure data for other approved sweeteners and adjusting for relative sweetness intensity, intake was estimated for healthy non-diabetic children and adults, and diabetic children and adults with the following findings.

The worst-case estimated intakes of Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% for several population groups summarized in Table 4 are no greater than 0.95 mg per kg steviol equivalents per bw per day, which is well below the ADI of 4 mg per kg bw expressed as steviol equivalents as established by JECFA. The Panel finds that the dietary levels from anticipated food consumption will not exceed the ADI when purified steviol glycosides (≥95% total steviol glycosides) are used as a general non-nutritive sweetener.

The Panel also finds that the minimum \geq 95% purity specification for Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% preparation is sufficient in view of the accepted JECFA specification for 95% purity for naturally occurring steviol glycosides. The Panel concludes that SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% purified steviol glycosides (\geq 95% total steviol glycosides), as manufactured by Shandong, is an appropriate food grade ingredient and that adverse pharmacological effects are not likely to occur at this designated ADI level. Furthermore, even high consumers of steviol glycosides are not likely to exceed this specified ADI. Therefore, Shandong and the Expert Panel conclude that Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% purified steviol glycosides preparation (\geq 95% total steviol glycosides composed primarily of rebaudioside A and stevioside), when consumed in foods as described within this GRAS notification, is generally recognized as safe (GRAS) within the meaning of the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act.

Shandong's SXY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% purified steviol glycosides preparation (≥ 95% total steviol glycosides composed primarily of rebaudioside A and stevioside), when produced in accordance with FDA Good Manufacturing Practices requirements and when meeting at a minimum the JECFA purity specifications for steviol glycosides and those specifications presented by Shandong in Table 2, is Generally Recognized As Safe when consumed as a non-nutritive sweetener within the JECFA ADI of 4 mg/kg bw/day. In order to remain within the designated ADI, it is important to observe good manufacturing practices principles in that the quantity of a substance added to food should not exceed the amount reasonably required to accomplish its intended technical effect.

9/11/17

This declaration has been made in accordance with FDA's standard for food ingredient safety, i.e., reasonable certainty of no harm under the intended conditions of use.

(b) (6)	
B. L. LIZ	 DADT

Richard Kraska, Ph.D., DABT

Chair

(b) (6)

Robert S. McQuate, Ph.D.

(b) (6) Katrina V. Emmel, Ph.D.

PART 7. LIST OF SUPPORTING DATA AND INFORMATION IN THE GRAS NOTICE.

A. List of Acronyms

ADI	Acceptable Daily Intake
ALT	Alanine Aminotransferase
AST	Aspartate Aminotransferase
AUC	area under the plasma-concentration time curve
AVA	Agri-Food & Veterinary Authority
BMI	Body Mass Index
BP	Blood pressure
bw	body weight
CAS	Chemical Abstract Service
CFR	Code of Federal Regulations
CFU	Colony Forming Unit
cGMP	Current good manufacturing practices
C _{max}	Maximum (or peak) serum concentration of substance is observed
Со	Company
CSAF	Chemical-specific adjustment factor
DABT	Diplomat of the American Board of Toxicology
DBP	Diastolic blood pressure
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EDI	Estimated Daily Intake
EFSA	European Food Safety Authority
EU	European Union
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
FCC	Food Chemical Codex
FDA	Food and Drug Administration

GRAS Notice – SXY Shandong	Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95%	9/11/17
FD&C	Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act	
FEMA	Flavor and Extracts Manufacturing Association	
FOIA	Freedom of Information Act	
FSANZ	Food Standards Australia New Zealand	
FSSAI	Food Safety and Standards Authority of India	
g	gram	
GA	GRAS Associates	
GGT	gamma-glutamyltransferase	
GI	Gastrointestinal	
GMO(s)	genetically-modified organism(s)	
gpt	guanine phosphoribosyltransferase	
GPT	Glutamic-pyruvate transaminase	
GRAS	Generally Recognized as Safe	
GRN	GRAS Notification	
HbA1c	glycated hemoglobin	
HDL	High-density lipoprotein	
Hg	Mercury	
HPLC	High-Performance Liquid Chromatography	
HR	Heart rate	
IADSA	International Alliance of Dietary/Food Supplement Assoc	iations
JECFA	Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives	
kg	kilogram	
L	Liter	
LD ₅₀	Lethal Dose, 50%	
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein	
LLC	Limited Liability Corporation	

GRAS Notice – S Shandong	XY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95%
Ltd.	Limited
MAP	Mean arterial pressure
mg	milligram
min.	minimum
mL	milliliter
mm	millimeter
MPL	Maximum permitted level
MW	molecular weight
n	number
NA	Not applicable
NHANES	National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey
NHPs	Natural Health Products
NMT	Not more than
No.	Number
NOAEL	No Observed Adverse Effect Level
NOEL	No observed effect level
NS	Not Specified
PCV	Packed cell volume
Ph.D.	Doctor of Philosophy
PND	postnatal day
opm	parts per million
RBC	Red blood cells
Reb A	Rebaudioside A
Reb B	Rebaudioside B
Reb C	Rebaudioside C
Reb D	Rebaudioside D

GRAS ASSOCIATES, LLC

GRAS Notice – Shandong	XY Stevia® Total Steviol Glycosides 95% 9/11/17
Reb F	Rebaudioside F
Reb M	Rebaudioside M
SBP	Systolic blood pressure
SCF	Scientific Committee for Food
t	Time
TAC	Total antioxidant capacity
tds	Total dissolved solids
TFC	Total flavonoid content
тк	Toxicokinetic
T _{max}	Time at which maximum (peak) plasma concentration (C_{max}) of substance i observed
TPC	Total phenolic content
TRAP	Tartrate-resistant alkaline phosphatase
μg	microgram
US	United States
UK	United Kingdom
VLDL	Very low density lipoprotein
WBC	White blood cells
WHO	World Health Organization

9/11/17

B. References

- AFSSA (2009a) Avis de l'Agence francaise de securite sanitaire des aliments sur un project d'arrete relatif a l'emploi de rebaudioside A extrait de Stevia rebaudiana en tant qu'additif alimentaire.: Agence Francais de Securite Sanitaire Des Aliments. Available at: http://www.afssa.fr/Documents/AAAT2009sa0119.pdf (Accessed: June 30, 2014.
- AFSSA (2009b) France approves high Reb A stevia sweeteners. FoodNavigator. Available at: <u>http://www.foodnavigator.com/Legislation/France-approves-high-Reb-A-stevia-sweeteners</u> (Accessed: June 30, 2014.
- Akashi, H. and Yokoyama, Y. (1975) 'Dried-leaf extracts of stevia, toxicological test', Shokuhin Kogyo, 18(20), pp. 34-43.
- Anonymous (2004a) 'Evaluation of the ingestion of stevioside, orally, in humans through a randomized clinical study of the type blind double. Subproject 1: Investigation of the hypolipidemic and hepatotoxic potential of the stevioside using doses usually consumed of the stevioside as sweetener. Unpublished report of a study conducted by the State University of Maringa and the Academical Hospital of Maringa. Submitted to WHO by State University of Campinas, Brazil.'.
- Anonymous (2004b) 'Evaluation of the ingestion of stevioside, orally, in humans through a randomized clinical study of the type blind double. Subproject 2: Investigation of the antihypertensive potential, insulintropic, hypolipidemic and toxic (hepatotoxic potential, nephrotoxic and of interference in the endocrine system) of the stevioside using doses above the usually consumed, but previously respecting values used in humans. Unpublished report of a study conducted by the State University of Maringa and the Academical Hospital of Maringa. Submitted to WHO by State University of Campinas, Brazil.'.
- AVA (2014) Agri-Food & Veterinary Authority of Singapore: Food Additives Permitted Under the Singapore Food Regulations. Available at: http://www.ava.gov.sg/docs/default-source/tools-and-resources/resources-forbusinesses/foodadditivesunderfr_inclnewadditivesunderfdamdtre.
- Awney, H. A., Massoud, M. I. and El-Maghrabi, S. (2011) 'Long-term feeding effects of stevioside sweetener on some toxicological parameters of growing male rats', *Journal of Applied Toxicology*, 31(5), pp. 431-438.
- Aze, Y., Toyoda, K., Imaida, K., Hayashi, S., Imazawa, T., Hayashi, Y. and Takahashi, M. (1990) '[Subchronic oral toxicity study of stevioside in F344 rats]', *Eisei Shikenjo hokoku. Bulletin of National Institute of Hygienic Sciences*, (109), pp. 48-54.
- Barriocanal, L., Palacios, M., Benitez, S., Canete, F., Jimenez, J., Jimenez, N. and Rojas, V. 'Lack of pharmacological effect of steviol glycosides as a sweetener in humans. Studies on repeated exposures in normotensive and hypotensive individuals and Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes'. 2nd International Symposium on Stevia.
- Barriocanal, L. A., Palacios, M., Benitez, G., Benitez, S., Jimenez, J. T., Jimenez, N. and Rojas, V. (2008) 'Apparent lack of pharmacological effect of steviol glycosides used as sweeteners in humans. A pilot study of repeated exposures in some normotensive and hypotensive individuals and in Type 1 and Type 2 diabetics', *Regulatory toxicology and pharmacology*, 51(1), pp. 37-41.
- BioVittoria (2009) 'GRN 301. GRAS Notification for Luo Han Guo Extract'. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/ucm/groups/fdagov-public/@fdagov-foods-gen/documents/document/ucm269350.pdf.
- Brahmachari, G., Mandal, L. C., Roy, R., Mondal, S. and Brahmachari, A. K. (2011) 'Stevioside and related compoundsmolecules of pharmaceutical promise: a critical overview', Archiv der Pharmazie, 344(1), pp. 5-19.
- Brandle, J., Starratt, A. and Gijzen, M. (1998) 'Stevia rebaudiana: its agricultural, biological, and chemical properties', Canadian journal of plant science, 78(4), pp. 527-536.
- Brown, R. J. and Rother, K. I. (2012) 'Non-nutritive sweeteners and their role in the gastrointestinal tract', *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 97(8), pp. 2597-2605.
- Brusick, D. (2008) 'A critical review of the genetic toxicity of steviol and steviol glycosides', Food and Chemical Toxicology, 46(7), pp. \$83-\$91.
- Carakostas, M. (2012) "Long-term feeding effects of stevioside sweetener on some toxicological parameters of growing rats", Journal of Applied Toxicology, 32(2), pp. 149-151.

- Carakostas, M. C., Curry, L. L., Boileau, A. C. and Brusick, D. J. (2008) 'Overview: The history, technical function and safety of rebaudioside A, a naturally occurring steviol glycoside, for use in food and beverages', *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 46(7, Supplement), pp. S1-S10.
- Cargill (2008) 'GRN 253. GRAS Notification for Rebaudioside A'. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/ucm/groups/fdagov-public/@fdagov-foods-gen/documents/document/ucm269137.pdf.
- CCFA (2009) 'Proposals for Additions and Changes to the Priority List of Food Additive Proposed for Evaluation by JECFA (CL 2008/26-FA). Codex Alimentarius Commission E, FAO/WHO/JECFA CX/FA 09/41/11.'.
- Chan, P., Tomlinson, B., Chen, Y. J., Liu, J. C., Hsieh, M. H. and Cheng, J. T. (2000) 'A double-blind placebo-controlled study of the effectiveness and tolerability of oral stevioside in human hypertension', *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 50(3), pp. 215-220.
- Chang, S. S. and Cook, J. M. (1983) 'Stability studies of stevioside and rebaudioside A in carbonated beverages', Journal of agricultural and food chemistry, 31(2), pp. 409-412.
- Chatsudthipong, V. and Muanprasat, C. (2009) 'Stevioside and related compounds: therapeutic benefits beyond sweetness', *Pharmacology & therapeutics*, 121(1), pp. 41-54.
- Clarke, J. (2006) 'Mammalian cell gene mutation test (L5178YTTKtI—Mouse Lymphoma Assay)[with Rebaudioside A]. BioReliance, Rockville, MD', Unpublished Report (Study Number AB21TG. 704. BTL).
- Clos, J. F., DuBois, G. E. and Prakash, I. (2008) 'Photostability of rebaudioside A and stevioside in beverages', Journal of agricultural and food chemistry, 56(18), pp. 8507-8513.
- Cohen, S. M., Fukushima, S., Gooderham, N. J., Hecht, S. S., Marnett, L. J., Rietjens, I. M. C. M. and Smith, R. L. (2015a) 'GRAS Flavoring Substances 27'.
- Cohen, S. M., Fukushima, S., Gooderham, N. J., Hecht, S. S., Marnett, L. J., Rietjens, I. M. C. M., Smith, R. L., Bastaki, M., McGowen, M. M., Harman, C. and Taylor, S. V. (2015b) 'GRAS 27 Flavoring Substances', *Food Technology*.
- Compadre, C., Hussain, R., Nanayakkara, N., Pezzuto, J. and Kinghorn, A. (1988) 'Mass spectral analysis of some derivatives and in vitro metabolites of steviol, the aglycone of the natural sweeteners, stevioside, rebaudioside A, and rubusoside', *Biomedical & environmental mass spectrometry*, 15(4), pp. 211-222.
- Curi, R., Alvarez, M., Bazotte, R., Botion, L., Godoy, J. and Bracht, A. (1986) 'EFFECT OF STEV/A REBA UD/ANA ON GLUCOSE TOLERANCE. IN NORMAL ADULT HUMANS', *Braz. j. med. biol. res.*
- Curry, L. L. and Roberts, A. (2008) 'Subchronic toxicity of rebaudioside A', Food and Chemical Toxicology, 46(7), pp. S11-S20.
- Curry, L. L., Roberts, A. and Brown, N. (2008) 'Rebaudioside A: two-generation reproductive toxicity study in rats', Food and Chemical Toxicology, 46(7), pp. S21-S30.
- Dewinter, L., Casteels, K., Corthouts, K., Van de Kerckhove, K., Van der Vaerent, K., Vanmeerbeeck, K. and Matthys, C. (2016) 'Dietary intake of non-nutritive sweeteners in type 1 diabetes mellitus children', *Food Addit Contam Part A Chem Anal Control Expo Risk Assess*, 33(1), pp. 19-26.
- Eapen, A. (2007) 'A 90-Day Oral (Dietary) Toxicity Study of GR-72-0180 in Rats', WIL Research Laboratories, LLC, Study No. WIL-529014. Unpublished report submitted by EFFA to FLAVIS Secretariat.
- Eapen, A. (2008) 'A 6-Month Oral (Dietary) Toxicity Study of Chrysanta® 99-P in Beagle Dogs', WIL Research Laboratories, LLC. Unpublished Report (Study Number WIL-568011). Reb A Safety Evaluation Dossier-References VIII-4.
- EFSA (2010) 'European Food Safety Authority, Scientific Opinion on safety of steviol glycosides for the proposed uses as a food additive', EFSA Journal, 8(4), pp. 85.
- EFSA (2011a) 'European Food Safety Authority, Scientific Opinion on Flavouring Group Evaluation 310 (FGE.310): Rebaudioside A from chemical group 30.', EFSA Journal, 9(5), pp. 1-37.
- EFSA (2011b) 'Revised exposure assessment for steviol glycosides for the proposed uses as a food additive', EFSA Journal, 9(1), pp. 1-19.
- EFSA (2014) 'EFSA ANS Panel (EFSA Panel on Food Additives and Nutrient Sources added to Food): Scientific Opinion on the revised exposure assessment of steviol glycosides (E960) for the proposed use as a food additiive.', EFSA Journal, 12(5), pp. 23.

- EFSA (2015) 'EFSA ANS Panel (EFSA Panel on Food Additiives and Nutrient Sources added to Food): Scientific Opinion on the extension of use of steviol glycosides (E960) as a food additiive', *EFSA Journal*, 13(6), pp. 20.
- Esen, F. N. (2016) 'Steviol Glycosides from *Stevia rebaudiana* Bertoni: Functional Properties, Safety and Application in Food Industry', *Molbigen*, 1, pp. 12-26.
- EU (2011) 'Commission Regulation (EU) No. 1131/2011 of November 11, 2011', Official Journal of the European Union.
- EuropeanCommission (1999a) 'Opinion on Stevia Rebaudiana Bertoni plants and leaves. Scientific Committee on Food (CS/NF/STEV/3 Final, 17 June 1999).'.
- EuropeanCommission (1999b) 'Opinion on stevioside as a sweetener. Scientific Committee on Food (CS/ADD/EDUL/167Final, 17 June 1999)'.
- FAO (2007a) 'Chemical and Technical Assessment: Steviol Glycosides. Revised by Paul M. Kuznesof, PhD for the 68th JECFA Meeting.'.
- FAO (2007b) 'Steviol Glycosides. FAO JECFA Monographs 4. ', Food and Agriculture Organization, .
- FAO (2008) 'Steviol Glycosides. FAO JECFA Monographs 5', Food and Agriculture Organization,.
- FAO (2010) 'Steviol Glycosides. FAO JECFA Monographs 10', Food and Agriculture Organization,.
- FAO/WHO (2009) 'Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations/World Health Organization List of Substances Scheduled for Evaluation and Request for Data. Seventy-third meeting Food additives and Contaminants.Geneva, 8 to 17 June 2010. ', Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives.
- FCC (2010) 'Rebaudioside A monograph.', Food Chemicals Codex. 7th ed, pp. 1487-1491.
- FDA (2017) 'GRAS Notices'. Available at: <u>http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/fdcc/?set=GRASNotices</u> (Accessed July 24, 2015).
- Ferri, L. A., Alves-Do-Prado, W., Yamada, S. S., Gazola, S., Batista, M. R. and Bazotte, R. B. (2006) 'Investigation of the antihypertensive effect of oral crude stevioside in patients with mild essential hypertension', *Phytotherapy Research*, 20(9), pp. 732-736.
- FoodNavigator (2011) ' Codex approval will open new stevia markets: PureCircle'.
- FSANZ (2008) 'Final Assessment Report, Application A540, Steviol Glycosides as Intense Sweeteners.', Food Standards Australia New Zealand.
- FSANZ (2010) 'Assessment Report. Application A1037. Steviol Glycosides Increase in Permitted Use Levels.', Food Standards Australia New Zealand.
- FSANZ (2011) 'Approval report Application A1037 Steviol Glycosides Increase in Permitted Use Levels. (13 May 2011). ', Food Standards Australia New Zealand.
- FSANZ (2015a) 'Call for submissions Application A1108: Rebaudioside M as a Steviol Glycoside Intense Sweetener'.
- FSANZ (2015b) 'Call for submissions on new steviol glycoside'.
- FSANZ (2016a) 'Amendment No. 160', Commonwealth of Australia Gazette, FSC 102.
- FSANZ (2016b) Call for submissions on broader definition for steviol glycosides. Available at: http://www.foodstandards.gov.au/media/Pages/Call-for-submissions-on-broader-definition-for-steviolglycosides-.aspx (Accessed: November 8, 2016.
- FSANZ (2017) 'Approval report Application A1132 Broaden Definition of Steviol Glycosides (Intense Sweetners)'.
- FSSAI (2012) 'Food Safety and Standards Authority of India: Minutes of the Tenth Meeting of Food Authority held on 20th September, 2012 at 1100 hrs at FDA Bhavan, New Delhi.'.
- Gardana, C., Simonetti, P., Canzi, E., Zanchi, R. and Pietta, P. (2003) 'Metabolism of stevioside and rebaudioside A from Stevia rebaudiana extracts by human microflora', *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 51(22), pp. 6618-6622.
- Gerwig, G. J., Te Poele, E. M., Dijkhuizen, L. and Kamerling, J. P. (2016) 'Stevia Glycosides: Chemical and Enzymatic Modifications of Their Carbohydrate Moieties to Improve the Sweet-Tasting Quality', Adv Carbohydr Chem Biochem, 73, pp. 1-72.
- Geuns, J. M. (2007a) 'Comments to the paper by Nunes et al.(2007), Analysis of genotoxic potentiality of stevioside by comet assay, Food and Chemical Toxicology 45 (2007) 662–666', Food and chemical toxicology, 45(12), pp. 2601-2602.

- Geuns, J. M. (2007b) 'Comments to the paper by Nunes et al.(2007), Analysis of genotoxic potentiality of stevioside by comet assay, Food and Chemical Toxicology 45 (2007) 662,Äì666', Food and chemical toxicology, 45(12), pp. 2601-2602.
- Geuns, J. M., Augustijns, P., Mols, R., Buyse, J. G. and Driessen, B. (2003a) 'Metabolism of stevioside in pigs and intestinal absorption characteristics of stevioside, rebaudioside A and steviol', *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 41(11), pp. 1599-1607.
- Geuns, J. M., Buyse, J., Vankeirsbilck, A., Temme, E. H., Compernolle, F. and Toppet, S. (2006) 'Identification of steviol glucuronide in human urine', *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 54(7), pp. 2794-2798.
- Geuns, J. M., Malheiros, R. D., Moraes, V. M., Decuypere, E. M.-P., Compernolle, F. and Buyse, J. G. (2003b) 'Metabolism of stevioside by chickens', *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 51(4), pp. 1095-1101.
- Geuns, J. M. C. (2003) 'Stevioside', Phytochemistry, 64(5), pp. 913-921.
- Gregersen, S., Jeppesen, P. B., Holst, J. J. and Hermansen, K. (2004) 'Antihyperglycemic effects of stevioside in type 2 diabetic subjects', *Metabolism*, 53(1), pp. 73-76.
- Gupta, E., Purwar, S., Sundaram, S., Tripath, P. and Rai, G. (2016) 'Stevioside and Rebaudioside A Predominant Ent-Kaurene Diterpene Glycosides of Therapeutic Potential: a Review', Czech J. Food Sci., 34(4), pp. 281-299.
- Health Canada (2009) Revised Guidelines for the Use of Stevia in Natural Health Products. Available at: http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/dhp-mps/prodnatur/legislation/docs/notice-avis-stevia-eng.php.
- Health Canada (2012) 'Information and Consultation Document on Health Canada's Proposal to Allow the Use of the Food Additive Steviol Glycosides as a Table-Top Sweetener and as a Sweetener in Certain Food Categories. ', Bureau of Chemical Safety, Food Directorate, Health Products and Food Branch.
- Health Canada (2014) List of Permitted Sweeteners (Lists of Permitted Food Additives). Available at: <u>http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/securit/addit/list/9-sweetener-edulcorant-eng.php</u>.
- Health Canada (2016) Notice of Modification to the List of Permitted Sweeteners to Enable the Use of Rebaudioside M as a Sweetener in Various Unstandardized Foods-Reference Number: NOM/ADM-0065. Available at: http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/consult/nom-adm-0065/index-eng.php (Accessed: 1-28-16.
- Health Canada (2017) 'Notice of Modification to the List of Permitted Sweeteners to Enable the Use of Steviol Glycosides as a Sweetener in Various Unstandardized Snack Bars'.
- Health, S. F. O. o. P. (2008) Switzerland Federal Office of Public Health. Available at: http://www.bag.admin.ch/themen/lebensmittel/04861/04972/index.html?lang=fr.
- Hsieh, M.-H., Chan, P., Sue, Y.-M., Liu, J.-C., Liang, T. H., Huang, T.-Y., Tomlinson, B., Chow, M. S. S., Kao, P.-F. and Chen, Y.-J. (2003) 'Efficacy and tolerability of oral stevioside in patients with mild essential hypertension: a two-year, randomized, placebo-controlled study', *Clinical therapeutics*, 25(11), pp. 2797-2808.
- Hutapea, A., Toskulkao, C., Wilairat, P. and Buddhasukh, D. (1999) 'High-performance liquid chromatographic separation and quantitation of stevioside and its metabolites', *Journal of liquid chromatography & related technologies*, 22(8), pp. 1161-1170.
- Hutapea, A. M., Toskulkao, C., Buddhasukh, D., Wilairat, P. and Glinsukon, T. (1997) 'Digestion of stevioside, a natural sweetener, by various digestive enzymes', *Journal of clinical biochemistry and nutrition*, 23(3), pp. 177-186.
- Huxtable, R. J. (2002) 'Pharmacology and toxicology of stevioside, rebaudioside A, and steviol. ', in Kinghorn, A.D., (Ed.) (ed.) Stevia: The Genus of Stevia. NY: Taylor and Francis, Inc.
- Ishidate, M., Sofuni, T., Yoshikawa, K., Hayashi, M., Nohmi, T., Sawada, M. and Matsuoka, A. (1984) 'Primary mutagenicity screening of food additives currently used in Japan', Food and Chemical Toxicology, 22(8), pp. 623-636.
- Jeppesen, P., Barriocanal, L., Meyer, M., Palacios, M., Canete, F., Benitez, S., Logwin, S., Schupmann, Y., Benitez, G. and Jimenez, J. 'Efficacy and tolerability of oral stevioside in patients with type 2 diabetes: a long-term, randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled study'. *Diabetologia*: SPRINGER 233 SPRING STREET, NEW YORK, NY 10013 USA, 511-512.
- Kerr, W., Mello, M. and Bonadio, E. 1983. Mutagenicity tests on the Stevioside from *Steavia rebaudiana* (Beert) Bertoni. SOC Brasil Genetica Dept Genetica FAC Medicina Ribeirao Preto, 14049-900 Pret, Brazil.

- Kinghorn, A. D. (2002) 'Stevia: The Genus Stevia', in Kinghorn, A.D., (Ed.), (ed.) *Medicinal and Aromatic Plants— Industrial Profiles*. London and NY: Taylor and Francis, pp. 1-17.
- Klongpanichpak, S., Temcharoen, P., Toskulkao, C., Apibal, S. and Glinsukon, T. (1997) 'Stevia 1997', J Med Assoc Thai, 80(1), pp. S121-8.
- Kobylewski, S. and Eckhert, C. D. (2008) *Toxicology of Rebaudioside A: A Review*. University of California at Los Angeles. Available at: Originally accessed at www.cspinet.org/new/200808281.html.
- Kochikyan, V., Markosyan, A., Abelyan, L., Balayan, A. and Abelyan, V. (2006) 'Combined enzymatic modification of stevioside and rebaudioside A', *Applied biochemistry and microbiology*, 42(1), pp. 31-37.
- Koyama, E., Sakai, N., Ohori, Y., Kitazawa, K., Izawa, O., Kakegawa, K., Fujino, A. and Ui, M. (2003) 'Absorption and metabolism of glycosidic sweeteners of stevia mixture and their aglycone, steviol, in rats and humans', Food Chem Toxicol, 41(6), pp. 875-83.
- Krsmanovic, L. and Huston, T. (2006) 'Rebaudioside A: Mammalian Erythrocyte Micronucleus Test. BioReliance, Rockville, MD. Unpublished Report (Study Number AB21TG.123.BTL)'.
- Kumar, D. and Oommen, V. (2008) 'Stevia rebaudiana Bertani does not produce female reproductive toxic effect: Study in Swiss albino mouse', *J Endocrinol Reprod*, 121, pp. 57-3.
- Kumari, K. L. N. W., Abeysinghe, D. C. and Dharmadasa, R. M. (2016) 'Distribution of Phytochemicals and Bioactivity in Different Parts and Leaf Positions of Stevia rebaudiana (Bertoni) Bertoni - a Non-caloric, Natural Sweetener', World Journal of Agricultural Research, 4(6), pp. 162-165.
- Leffingwell, J. (2011) 'Flavor Properties of FEMA GRAS List 25 Flavor Chemicals', Perfumer & Flavorist, 36, pp. 24-31.
- Leffingwell, J. and Leffingwell, D. (2014) 'Flavor Properties of FEMA GRAS List 26 Flavor Chemicals', Perfumer & Flavorist, 39, pp. 26-37.
- Lester, T. (1999) 'Stevia rebaudiana.', The Australian New Crops Newsletter, (11).
- Lu, F. C. (1988) 'Acceptable daily intake: inception, evolution, and application', *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 8(1), pp. 45-60.
- MAFF (1998) Advisory Committee on Novel Foods and Processes for the Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food. Available at: http://archive.food.gov.uk/maff/archive/food/novel/980924.htm (Accessed: June 30, 2014.
- Maki, K., Curry, L., Carakostas, M., Tarka, S., Reeves, M., Farmer, M., McKenney, J., Toth, P., Schwartz, S. and Lubin, B. (2008a) 'The hemodynamic effects of rebaudioside A in healthy adults with normal and low-normal blood pressure', Food and Chemical Toxicology, 46(7), pp. S40-S46.
- Maki, K., Curry, L., Reeves, M., Toth, P., McKenney, J., Farmer, M., Schwartz, S., Lubin, B., Boileau, A. and Dicklin, M. (2008b) 'Chronic consumption of rebaudioside A, a steviol glycoside, in men and women with type 2 diabetes mellitus', *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 46(7), pp. S47-S53.
- Marnett, L. J., Cohen, S. M., Fukushima, S., Gooderham, N. J., Hecht, S. S., Rietjens, I. M. C. M. and Smith, R. L. (2013) 'GRAS Flavoring Substances 26'.
- Matsui, M., Matsui, K., Kawasaki, Y., Oda, Y., Noguchi, T., Kitagawa, Y., Sawada, M., Hayashi, M., Nohmi, T. and Yoshihira, K. (1996) 'Evaluation of the genotoxicity of stevioside and steviol using six in vitro and one in vivo mutagenicity assays', *Mutagenesis*, 11(6), pp. 573-579.
- McQuate, R. S. (2011) 'Ensuring the Safety of Sweeteners from Stevia', Food Technology, (no. 4).
- Medon, P., Pezzuto, J., HOVANECBROWN, J., Nanayakkara, N., Soejarto, D., Kamath, S. and Kinghorn, A. (1982) Safety assessment of some Stevia rebaudiana sweet principles: FEDERATION AMER SOC EXP BIOL 9650 ROCKVILLE PIKE, BETHESDA, MD 20814-3998 (0014-9446, 5).
- Melis, M. (1992) 'Stevioside effect on renal function of normal and hypertensive rats', *Journal of ethnopharmacology*, 36(3), pp. 213-217.
- Merisant (2008) 'GRN 252. GRAS Notification for Rebaudioside A'. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/ucm/groups/fdagov-public/@fdagov-foods-gen/documents/document/ucm264109.pdf.
- Michail, N. (2016) Stevia passes muster with EU for approved use in mustard. FoodNavigator.com. Available at: <u>http://www.foodnavigator.com/Policy/Stevia-passes-muster-with-EU-for-approved-use-in-mustard</u> (Accessed: April 12, 2016.
- Mitsuhashi, H. (1976) Safety of Stevioside Tama Biochemical Co. Ltd.

- Mori, N., Sakanoue, M., Takeuchi, M., Shimpo, K. and Tanabe, T. (1981) 'Effect of stevioside on fertility in rats', Journal of the Food Hygienic Society of Japan (Japan).
- Nakajima (2000a) 'Chromosome aberration assay of Rebaudioside A in cultured mammalian cells. Test number 5001 (079-085). Unpublished report of a study conducted at the Biosafety Research Center, Japan. Submitted to WHO by Ministry of Health and Welfare, Japan.'.
- Nakajima (2000b) 'Micronucleus test of rebaudioside A in mice. Test number 5002 (079-086). Unpublished report of a study conducted at the Biosafety Research Center, Japan. Submitted to WHO by Ministry of Health and Welfare, Japan.'.
- Nakayama, K., Kasahara, D. and Yamamoto, F. (1986) 'Absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion of stevioside in rats', *Journal of the Food Hygienic Society of Japan (Japan)*.
- NewHope360 (2011) IADSA welcomes Codex adoption of Stevial Glycosides. Available at: http://newhope360.com/supply-news-amp-analysis/iadsa-welcomes-codex-adoption-stevial-glycosides.
- NewHope360 (2015) Global Stevia Market Study: Beverages will remain the dominant application segment through 2020. Available at: http://newhope360.com/supply-news-analysis/global-stevia-market-study-beverages-will-remain-dominant-application-segment-

t?utm_rid=CNHNM000000100421&utm_campaign=13247&utm_medium=email&NL=NP-01&Issue=NP-01_20150825_NP-

01_69&sfvc4enews=42&cl=article_5&elqTrack=true&elqTrackId=40dfa2a4d935417dbe23095377e8eb03&elq =f0074a336483427d977930eb3f9a3929&elqCampaignId=5559&elqaid=13247&elqat=1 (Accessed: August 29, 2015.

- Newsday (2006) 'The Food Institute Report', FDA News.
- Nikiforov, A. I. and Eapen, A. K. (2008) 'A 90-day oral (dietary) toxicity study of rebaudioside A in Sprague-Dawley rats', *International journal of toxicology*, 27(1), pp. 65-80.
- Nunes, A., Ferreira-Machado, S., Nunes, R., Dantas, F., De Mattos, J. and Caldeira-de-Araújo, A. (2007a) 'Analysis of genotoxic potentiality of stevioside by comet assay', *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 45(4), pp. 662-666.
- Nunes, A. P. M., Ferreira-Machado, S. C., Nunes, R. M., Dantas, F. J. S., De Mattos, J. C. P. and de Araujo, A. C. (2007b) 'Response', *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 45(12), pp. 2603-2604.
- Nunes, A. P. M., Ferreira-Machado, S. C., Nunes, R. M., Dantas, F. J. S., De Mattos, J. C. P. and de Araujo, A. C. (2007c) 'Response', *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 45(12), pp. 2599-2600.
- Oh, H.-Y., Han, E.-S., Choi, D.-W., Kim, J.-W., Eom, M.-O., Kang, I.-H., Kang, H.-J. and Ha, K.-W. (1999) 'In vitro and In vivo Evaluation of Genotoxicity of Stevioside and Steviol, Natural Sweetner', JOURNAL-PHARMACEUTICAL SOCIETY OF KOREA, 43, pp. 614-622.
- Oliveira-Filho, R. M., Uehara, O. A., Minetti, C. A. and Valle, L. B. (1989) 'Chronic administration of aqueous extract of Stevia rebaudiana (Bert.) Bertoni in rats: endocrine effects', *General Pharmacology: The Vascular System*, 20(2), pp. 187-191.
- Pezzuto, J. M., Compadre, C. M., Swanson, S. M., Nanayakkara, D. and Kinghorn, A. D. (1985) 'Metabolically activated steviol, the aglycone of stevioside, is mutagenic', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 82(8), pp. 2478-2482.
- Philippines (2014) Republic of the Philippines Food and Drug Administration. Available at: http://www.fda.gov.ph/.
- Planas, G. M. and Kuć, J. (1968) 'Contraceptive properties of Stevia rebaudiana', Science, 162(3857), pp. 1007-1007.
- Prakash, I., Dubois, G. E., Clos, J. F., Wilkens, K. L. and Fosdick, L. E. (2008) 'Development of rebiana, a natural, noncaloric sweetener', *Food Chem Toxicol*, 46 Suppl 7, pp. S75-82.
- Procinska, E., Bridges, B. A. and Hanson, J. R. (1991) 'Interpretation of results with the 8-azaguanine resistance system in Salmonella typhimurium: no evidence for direct acting mutagenesis by 15-oxosteviol, a possible metabolite of steviol', *Mutagenesis*, 6(2), pp. 165-167.

Raintree (2012) 'Tropical Plant Database: Stevia'. Available at: http://www.rain-tree.com/stevia.htm - .VdT6ds6MFdo.

Renwick, A. (1990) 'Acceptable daily intake and the regulation of intense sweeteners', Food Additives & Contaminants, 7(4), pp. 463-475.

9/11/17

Renwick, A. and Tarka, S. (2008) 'Microbial hydrolysis of steviol glycosides', Food and chemical toxicology, 46(7), pp. \$70-\$74.

- Renwick, A. G. (2008) 'The use of a sweetener substitution method to predict dietary exposures for the intense sweetener rebaudioside A', Food and Chemical Toxicology, 46(7, Supplement), pp. S61-S69.
- Roberts, A., Lynch, B., Rogerson, R., Renwick, A., Kern, H., Coffee, M., Cuellar-Kingston, N., Eapen, A., Crincoli, C. and Pugh, G. (2016) 'Chemical-specific adjustment factors (inter-species toxicokinetics) to establish the ADI for steviol glycosides', *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 79, pp. 91-102.
- Roberts, A. and Munro, I. (2009) 'Stevioside and related compounds: therapeutic benefits beyond sweetness', *Pharmacology & therapeutics*, 122(3), pp. e1-e2.
- Roberts, A. and Renwick, A. (2008) 'Comparative toxicokinetics and metabolism of rebaudioside A, stevioside, and steviol in rats', Food and Chemical Toxicology, 46(7), pp. S31-S39.
- RSADH (2012a) 'Republic of South Africa Department of Health: Foodstuffs, Cosmetics and Disinfectants Act, 1972 (Act 52 of 1972): List of Permissable Sweeteners Referred to in Regulation 4 of the Regulations Relating to the Use of Sweeteners in Foodstuffs – (R.733 of 10 September 2012).'.
- RSADH (2012b) 'Republic of South Africa Department of Health: No. R. 733 Foodstuffs, Cosmetics and Disinfectants Act, 1972 (Act No. 54 of 1972): Regulations Relating to the Use of Sweeteners in Foodstuffs, 10 September 2012.'.
- Rulis, A. M. and Levitt, J. A. (2009) 'FDA'S food ingredient approval process: safety assurance based on scientific assessment', *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 53(1), pp. 20-31.
- Rumelhard, M., Hosako, H., Eurlings, I. M., Westerink, W. M., Staska, L. M., van de Wiel, J. A. and La Marta, J. (2016) 'Safety evaluation of rebaudioside A produced by fermentation', *Food Chem Toxicol*, 89, pp. 73-84.
- Safety, H. K. C. f. F. (2010) Hong Kong Centre for Food Safety Legislative council brief. Sweeteners in food (amendment) regulation. Available at:

http://www.cfs.gov.hk/english/programme/programme_rafs/files/2010_amendment_to_sweeteners_in_foo d_regulation_Legco_brief.pdf.

- Saravanan, R. and Ramachandran, V. (2012) 'Effect of Rebaudioside A, a diterpenoid on glucose homeostasis in STZinduced diabetic rats', Journal of physiology and biochemistry, 68(3), pp. 421-431.
- Sasaki, Y. F., Kawaguchi, S., Kamaya, A., Ohshita, M., Kabasawa, K., Iwama, K., Taniguchi, K. and Tsuda, S. (2002) 'The comet assay with 8 mouse organs: results with 39 currently used food additives', *Mutation Research/Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis*, 519(1), pp. 103-119.
- Schvartaman, J., Krimer, D. and Azorero, R. M. (1977) 'Cytological effect of some medicinal plants used in the control of fertility', *Experientia*, 33(5), pp. 663-665.
- Searby, L. (2016) 'Stevia sector says imminent EU law changes will sweeten NPD', Food Navigator.
- Sekihashi, K., Saitoh, H. and Sasaki, Y. F. (2002) 'Genotoxicity studies of stevia extract and steviol by the comet assay', Journal of toxicological sciences, 27(SUPP/1), pp. 1-10.
- Shannon, M., Rehfeld, A., Frizzell, C., Livingstone, C., McGonagle, C., Skakkebaek, N. E., Wielogorska, E. and Connolly,
 L. (2016) 'In vitro bioassay investigations of the endocrine disrupting potential of steviol glycosides and their metabolite steviol, components of the natural sweetener Stevia', *Mol Cell Endocrinol*, 427, pp. 65-72.
- Silva, G. E. C. d., Assef, A. H., Albino, C. C., Ferri, L. d. A. F., Tasin, G., Takahashi, M. H., Eik Filho, W. and Bazotte, R. B. (2006) 'Investigation of the tolerability of oral stevioside in Brazilian hyperlipidemic patients', *Brazilian Archives of Biology and Technology*, 49(4), pp. 583-587.
- Sloter, E. D. (2008a) 'A dietary two-generation reproductive toxicity study of Chrysanta(R) 99-P in rats. ', WIL Research Laboratories, LLC. Unpublished Report (Study Number WIL-568006).
- Sloter, E. D. (2008b) 'Oral (Gavage) study of Chrysanta(R) 99-P on embryo/fetal development in rats', WIL Research Laboratories, LLC. Unpublished Report (Study Number WIL-568004).
- Smith, R. L., Waddell, W. J., Cohen, S. M., Feron, V. J., Marnett, L. J., Portoghese, P. S., Rietjens, I. M. C. M., Adams, T. B., Gavin, C. L., McGowen, M. M., Taylor, S. V. and Williams, M. C. (2009) 'GRAS Flavoring Substances 24', Food Technology, pp. 46-105.

- Sung, L. (2002) 'Report on pharmacokinetic (PK) studies in rats', Unpublished report from Sunlabel Pte Ltd., Singapore. Submitted to WHO by the Ministry of Health and Welfare, Japan.
- Sunwin/WILD (2010) 'GRN 304. GRAS Notification for purified steviol glycosides with rebaudioside A and stevioside as the principal components'. Available at: <u>http://www.fda.gov/ucm/groups/fdagov-public/@fdagov-foods-gen/documents/document/ucm269405.pdf</u>.
- Suttajit, M., Vinitketkaumnuen, U., Meevatee, U. and Buddhasukh, D. (1993) 'Mutagenicity and human chromosomal effect of stevioside, a sweetener from Stevia rebaudiana Bertoni', *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 101(Suppl 3), pp. 53-56.
- Tandel, K. R. (2011) 'Sugar substitutes: Health controversy over perceived benefits', Journal of pharmacology & pharmacotherapeutics, 2(4), pp. 236.
- Temcharoen, P., Pimbua, J., Glinsukon, T., Rojanapo, W. and Apibal, S. (1998) 'Mutagenic activity of steviol to Salmonella typhimurium TM 677: Comparison of the activity of S9 liver fractions from five laboratory animal species', Bull. Health Sci. Technol, 1, pp. 38-45.
- Temcharoen, P., Suwannatrai, M., Klongpanichpak, S., Apibal, S., Glinsukon, T. and Toskulkao, C. (2000) 'Evaluation of the effect of steviol on chromosomal damage using micronucleus test in three laboratory animal species', Journal of the Medical Association of Thailand= Chotmaihet thangphaet, 83, pp. S101-8.

Temme, E., Vankeirsblick, A. and Buyse, J. 'A short term study of stevioside in healthy subjects'. Safety of Stevioside": Proceedings of the First Symposium. Sponsored by KULeuven, 63-74.

- Terai, T., Ren, H., Mori, G., Yamaguchi, Y. and Hayashi, T. (2002) 'Mutagenicity of steviol and its oxidative derivatives in Salmonella typhimurium TM677', *Chemical and pharmaceutical bulletin*, 50(7), pp. 1007-1010.
- Toskulkac, C., Chaturat, L., Temcharoen, P. and Glinsukon, T. (1997) 'Acute toxicity of stevioside, a natural sweetener, and its metabolite, steviol, in several animal species', *Drug and Chemical Toxicology*, 20(1-2), pp. 31-44.
- Toyoda, K., Matsui, H., Shoda, T., Uneyama, C., Takada, K. and Takahashi, M. (1997) 'Assessment of the carcinogenicity of stevioside in F344 rats', *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 35(6), pp. 597-603.
- Urban, J., Carakostas, M. and Brusick, D. (2013) 'Steviol glycoside safety: Is the genotoxicity database sufficient?', Food and Chemical Toxicology, 51, pp. 386-390.
- Urban, J. D., Carakostas, M. C. and Taylor, S. L. (2015) 'Steviol glycoside safety: Are highly purified steviol glycoside sweeteners food allergens?', Food and Chemical Toxicology, 75, pp. 71-78.
- Usami, M., Sakemi, K., Kawashima, K., Tsuda, M. and Ohno, Y. (1994) '[Teratogenicity study of stevioside in rats]', Eisei Shikenjo hokoku. Bulletin of National Institute of Hygienic Sciences, (113), pp. 31-35.
- Waddell, W. J. (2011) "Long-term feeding effects of stevioside sweetener on some toxicological parameters of growing rats", Journal of Applied Toxicology, 31(6), pp. 595-596.
- Wagner, V. O. and Van Dyke, M. R. (2006) 'Bacterial Reverse Mutation Assay of Rebaudioside A. BioReliance, Rockville, MD. Study Number AB21TG.503.BTL'.
- Wang, L., Goh, B., Fan, L. and Lee, H. (2004) 'Sensitive high-performance liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry method for determination of steviol in rat plasma', *Rapid communications in mass spectrometry*, 18(1), pp. 83-86.
- Wasuntarawat, C., Temcharoen, P., Toskulkao, C., Mungkornkarn, P., Suttajit, M. and Glinsukon, T. (1998) 'Developmental toxicity of steviol, a metabolite of stevioside, in the hamster', *Drug and Chemical Toxicology*, 21(2), pp. 207-222.
- Watson, E. (2010) 'EFSA opinion paves way for EU approval of stevia-based sweeteners', NutraIngredients.
- Wheeler, A., Boileau, A., Winkler, P., Compton, J., Prakash, I., Jiang, X. and Mandarino, D. (2008) 'Pharmacokinetics of rebaudioside A and stevioside after single oral doses in healthy men', *Food and chemical toxicology*, 46(7), pp. S54-S60.
- Whitehead, R. J. (2013) 'Thailand's stevia approval poses challenge for Indonesian regulators', FoodNavigator.
- WHO (2000) 'WHO Food Additive Series; 42. Safety evaluation of certain food additives. Stevioside.', Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives.
- World Health Organization: GEMS/Food regional diets (regional per capita consumption of raw and semi processed agricultural commodities). Geneva: Global Environment Monitoring System 144 steviol glycosides K2

- WHO (2006) 'WHO Food Additive Series; 54. Safety evaluation of certain food additives, Steviol Glycosides', Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives. , pp. 117-144.
- Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives. Sixty-eighth meeting, Summary and Conclusions, Steviol Glycosides. .
- WHO (2008) 'Sixty-ninth meeting: Summary and Conclusions, Steviol Glycosides', Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives. .
- WHO (2009) 'WHO Food Additive Series: 60. Safety evaluation of certain food additives. Steviol Glycosides (addendum).'.
- Williams, G. M. (2007) 'Letter to the Editor', Food and Chemical Toxicology, 45(12), pp. 2597-2598.
- Williams, L. D. and Burdock, G. A. (2009) 'Genotoxicity studies on a high-purity rebaudioside A preparation', Food and chemical toxicology, 47(8), pp. 1831-1836.
- Wingard Jr, R., Brown, J., Enderlin, F., Dale, J., Hale, R. and Seitz, C. (1980) 'Intestinal degradation and absorption of the glycosidic sweeteners stevioside and rebaudioside A', *Experientia*, 36(5), pp. 519-520.
- Wood, H. B., Jr., Allerton, R., DIEHL, H. W. and FLETCHER JR, H. G. (1955) 'Stevioside. I. The structure of the glucose moieties', *The Journal of Organic Chemistry*, 20(7), pp. 875-883.
- Xili, L., Chengjiany, B., Eryi, X., Reiming, S., Yuengming, W., Haodong, S. and Zhiyian, H. (1992) 'Chronic oral toxicity and carcinogenicity study of stevioside in rats', *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 30(11), pp. 957-965.
- Yadav, S. K. and Guleria, P. (2012) 'Steviol glycosides from Stevia: biosynthesis pathway review and their application in foods and medicine', *Critical reviews in food science and nutrition*, 52(11), pp. 988-998.
- Yamada, A., Ohgaki, S., Noda, T. and Shimizu, M. (1985) 'Chronic toxicity study of dietary stevia extracts in F344 rats', Journal of the Food Hygienic Society of Japan (Japan).
- Yodyingyuad, V. and Bunyawong, S. (1991) 'Effect of stevioside on growth and reproduction', *Human Reproduction*, 6(1), pp. 158-165.
- Zenith (2011) 'Stevia Sales Increased 27% Last Year, Says Zenith', Nutritional Outlook.
- Zenith (2013) 'Global Stevia Market Passes \$300 Million. ', Nutraceuticals World.

Zenith (2014) 'Global Stevia Market up 14% in 2014. '.

C. Appendices

9/11/17

Appendix 1 Specifications and Certificates of Analysis for Production Processing Aids

Appendix 1.1 Ethanol Specification

Appendix 1.2 Stevia Extract (≥ 90% Total Steviol Glycosides) Certificates of Analysis

Appendix 1.1 Ethanol Specification



PRODUCT SPECIFICATION

ORGANIC WHEAT ALCOHOL 96,0 % min. vol.(192 Proof)

Parameter(Unit)	Standard	Typical Result
Alcohol content at 20°C (%vol.) Density at 20 °C (kg/liter)	Min.96,0%vol. Min. 0.8076	96,2 %vol.(192,4Proof) 0.806
Appearance	Colorless, clear	Colorless, clear
Refractive index at 20°C	Method NGD C31: 1976	1,36
Maximum levels of residue		
Total carbonyl (Acetaldehyde, g/hl. AA)	Max. 0,5	0,1
Esters (Ethyl acetate, g/hl. AA)	Max. 1,3	0,1
Methanol (g/hl. AA)	Max. 30	0,2
Total Higher Alcohols (2-methyl-1-propanol. g/hl. AA)	Max. 0,5	0,1
Permanganate clearing time (minutes)	Min. 20	>25
Total Dry Residue (g/hl. AA)	Max. 1,5	0,2
Total acids (as Acetic acid g/hl. AA)	Max. 1,5	0,6
Volatile base containing nitrogen (g/hl. AA)	Max. 0.1	Pass
Furfural	Not Detectable	Pass

-AA: Content based on 100%vol. Ethanol.

Product Complies with EU regulation 110/2008, HACCP and ISO9001 principles. Product is free from GMO's according to EU regulation1829/2003. Product is free of allergenic compounds such as gluten or gluten residue. Product is available with a Kosher certificate.(Please ask specifically) Product is available with Organic (EU/USA) certificate. (Please ask specifically)

The Netherlands, April 09. 2014

An ISO 9001:2008 Certified Company by Lloyd's. Heliumstraat 8 • 2718 SL Zoetermeer • The Netherlands Phone:+ 31.79.3633064 • Fax +31.79.3633060 Email:sales@sasmabv.com • www.sasmabv.com